
 
 

 

NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

NEW YORK, NEW YORK 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

COMPREHENSIVE 

NNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED  

DECEMBER 31, 2003 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE 
YEARS ENDED 

DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016 

 

 





        Stanley Brezenoff
Interim Chair & Chief  Executive Officer

Vito Mustaciuolo   
General Manager  

   Tricia Roberts  
 Vice President for Finance 

 Daniel Frydberg
Acting Controller    





Certificate of 

Presented to

New York City Housing Authority

For its Comprehensive Annual

December 31, 2016

Executive Director/CEO

Financial Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended

Reporting
in Financial

for Excellence
Achievement

Text38: New York
Text53:

Government Finance Officers Association





New York City Housing Authority 

New York, New York 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

           Page No. 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION (UNAUDITED) 

Letter of Transmittal            1 
                   
Organization Chart            17 
List of Principal Officials           21    
 
FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
Report of Independent Auditors           27   
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)      31   
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
Statements of Net Position          41   
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position     42   
Statements of Cash Flows          43   
Notes to the Financial Statements         45   
 
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) 
 
Schedule of Changes in the Authority’s Total OPEB Liability 
     and Related Ratios         107 
Schedule of the Authority’s Contributions to the New York City   
     Employees’ Retirement System (NYCERS)     109  
Schedule of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension 
     Liability of NYCERS         111  



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 

           Page No. 

STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED) 
 
Financial Trends 
     Comparative Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses 121  
     Net Position by Category        123 
     Capital Assets by Category        125 
Revenue Capacity 
     Revenue on a Gross Basis        129 
Debt Capacity 
     Long Term Debt         133  
     Pledged Revenue Coverage        137 
     Historical Federal Operating Subsidy      141 
     Historical Federal Capital Fund Awards      143 
Demographic and Economic Information       
     Resident Demographics – Operating Programs     147 
     Resident Demographics – Housing Choice Voucher Program   149 
     Demographic and Economic Statistics – Ten Year Trend   151  
     NYCHA Demographic and Economic Statistics – Ten Year Trend  153  
     City of New York – Persons Receiving Public Assistance – Ten 
          Year Trend          155  
     Nonagricultural Wage and Salary Employment – Ten Year Trend  157  
     Employment Status of the Resident Population – Ten Year Trend  159  
Operating Information 
     Public Housing Assessment System (PHAS) – Interim Rule   163  
     Summary of Public Housing Developments     165 
     Lease Commitments         167 
     Employee Head Counts        169 
       
 



        Chelsea Houses, Borough of Manhattan 





Kingsborough Houses, Borough of Brooklyn 

 





1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13





George Washington Houses, Borough of Manhattan





In
te

ri
m

 C
ha

ir
 &

C
hi

ef
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

O
ff

ic
er

S.
 B

re
ze

no
ff

G
en

er
al

M
an

ag
er

 &
C

hi
ef

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
O

ff
ic

er
V

. M
us

ta
ci

uo
lo

C
hi

ef
 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 
O

ff
ic

er
R

. L
ev

in
e

O
ff

ic
e 

of
 

In
te

rg
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l 
R

el
at

io
ns

 
D

ir
ec

to
r

B
. H

on
an

E
qu

al
 

O
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

. T
ho

m
as

-S
eg

ur
e

A
ct

in
g 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t 
Fo

r 
L

eg
al

 A
ff

ai
rs

 &
 

G
en

er
al

 C
ou

ns
el

K
. M

ac
N

ea
l

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t &
C

hi
ef

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

O
ff

ic
er

K
. J

ew

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t &
 

C
hi

ef
 F

in
an

ci
al

 O
ff

ic
er

(V
ac

an
t)

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t F
or

 
C

om
m

un
ity

 E
ng

ag
em

en
t 

&
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s

S.
 S

he
rm

an

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t &
 C

hi
ef

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

O
ff

ic
er

R
. M

ar
an

o V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t

Fo
r 

E
nt

er
pr

ise
 

T
ec

hn
ol

og
y

Po
rt

fo
lio

 M
gm

t
J. 

Sa
gg

es
e

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t

&
 C

hi
ef

 
T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
O

ff
ic

er
R

. K
ur

kj
ia

n

Pr
oc

es
s a

nd
 In

fo
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

Se
ni

or
 D

ir
ec

to
r

I. 
Sh

ap
iro

C
om

m
un

ity
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
L.

 W
ill

ia
m

s

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
(V

ac
an

t)

M
an

ha
tta

n 
Pr

op
er

ty
M

an
ag

em
en

t D
ep

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

D
. O

va
lle

B
ro

nx
 P

ro
pe

rt
y

M
an

ag
em

en
t D

ep
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
M

. A
lle

n

B
ro

ok
ly

n 
Pr

op
er

ty
M

an
ag

em
en

t D
ep

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

P.
 C

al
an

dr
ill

o

N
ex

tG
en

O
ps

Po
lic

y 
&

Pr
og

ra
m

 D
ev

el
D

ir
ec

to
r &

 
Sr

. A
dv

is
or

(V
ac

an
t)

E
m

er
ge

nc
y

Se
rv

ic
es

D
ir

ec
to

r
E.

 T
av

ar
ez

H
ea

tin
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

&
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

A
ct

in
g 

D
ir

ec
to

r
J. 

A
lm

od
ov

ar

R
is

k 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

A
. O

re
ns

te
in

A
cc

ou
nt

s P
ay

ab
le

 
&

 U
til

ity
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

. S
te

in
m

et
z

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
&

R
ep

or
tin

g 
 S

er
vi

ce
s

A
ct

in
g 

C
on

tr
ol

le
r 

D
. F

ry
db

er
g

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

D
ir

ec
to

r
N

. V
an

 G
en

dt

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
D

ev
el

an
d 

A
dm

in
D

ir
ec

to
r

R
. J

ac
ks

on

T
re

as
ur

y 
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

T
re

as
ur

er
T.

 P
uc

ci
o

O
ff

ic
e 

of
 S

af
et

y 
&

Se
cu

ri
ty

D
ir

ec
to

r
P.

 O
’H

ag
an

Fi
na

nc
ia

l P
la

nn
in

g
&

 A
na

ly
si

s
D

ir
ec

to
r

G
. O

ko
ro

ji

N
O

TE
A

ll 
w

or
k 

un
its

 sh
ow

n 
on

 th
is

 c
ha

rt 
ar

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
 u

nl
es

s 
ot

he
rw

is
e 

no
te

d.
 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t 
Fo

r 
C

ap
ita

l P
ro

je
ct

s
D

. G
od

da
rd

Pr
oj

ec
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

D
ep

t T
ea

m
 2

E
xe

c P
ro

je
ct

 M
gr

O
. O

st
er

w
in

d

C
ap

ita
l P

la
nn

in
g

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r 
Y

. H
er

na
nd

ez

D
es

ig
n 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
S.

 G
ro

om

Pr
oj

ec
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

D
ep

t T
ea

m
 1

E
xe

c P
ro

je
ct

 M
gr

(V
ac

an
t)

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

Su
pp

or
t 

Se
rv

ic
es

C
. G

le
nn

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
A

. E
ag

le

C
us

to
m

er
C

on
ta

ct
 C

en
te

r
D

ir
ec

to
r

G
. W

ill
ia

m
s

Pu
bl

ic
/P

ri
va

te
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

ps
D

ir
ec

to
r

R
. K

irm
an

i-F
ry

e

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

Pr
oj

ec
t

M
an

ag
em

en
t

(V
ac

an
t)

B
ro

ok
ly

n 
W

IC
D

ep
ut

y 
D

ir
ec

to
r

A
. M

at
he

w

Q
A

 &
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
M

an
ag

em
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r 

S.
 C

ro
sb

y

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t F

or
C

ap
ita

l P
la

nn
in

g
&

 D
es

ig
n

J. 
Sc

an
lo

n

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
Ju

ne
 4

, 2
01

8

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t F

or
 

R
ea

l E
st

at
e 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
(V

ac
an

t)

R
es

id
en

t 
E

co
no

m
ic

E
m

po
w

er
m

en
t 

&
 S

us
ta

in
ab

ili
ty

D
ir

ec
to

r
S.

 C
as

til
lo

R
es

id
en

t 
E

ng
ag

em
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

J. 
H

ud
so

n

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

of
  S

up
pl

y 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
&

 P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t
J. 

R
us

so

M
at

er
ia

ls 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r 

A
. P

or
ce

lli

A
ct

in
g

Sr
. V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t
Fo

r 
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 
Su

pp
or

t S
er

vi
ce

s
E.

 T
av

ar
ez

M
ai

nt
. R

ep
ai

rs
 &

Sk
ill

ed
 T

ra
de

s
D

ir
ec

to
r

C
. P

aw
so

n

M
ix

ed
 F

in
an

ce
Pr

op
er

ty
M

an
ag

em
en

t D
ep

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

D
. L

av
al

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t 
Fo

r 
L

ea
se

d 
H

ou
si

ng
L.

 M
ill

er

E
xe

cu
tiv

e
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t F
or

 
E

xt
er

na
l A

ff
ai

rs
D

. P
ris

tin

O
ff

ic
e 

of
 

E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
J. 

St
ak

en
bu

rg

E
le

va
to

rs
D

ir
ec

to
r

I. 
N

ik
ol

ic

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

R
ec

ov
er

y 
&

R
es

ili
en

ce
J. 

Si
nd

er
br

an
d

A
na

ly
si

s &
 

R
ep

or
tin

g 
D

ep
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

. M
or

ris

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

M
an

ag
em

en
t

&
 A

na
ly

tic
s

A
. F

la
tle

y

M
an

ag
em

en
t

an
d 

Pl
an

ni
ng

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

. B
ru

no

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
&

 
C

en
tr

al
 O

ff
ic

e
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

D
ir

ec
to

r 
R

. T
es

or
ie

ro

C
lie

nt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

D
ir

ec
to

r 
I. 

B
ob

b 
Le

w
is

L
H

D
 F

in
an

ce
D

ir
ec

to
r 

J. 
O

ha
do

m
a

C
hi

ef
 o

f S
ta

ff
 to

 
G

en
er

al
 M

an
ag

er
K

. P
ay

am
ps

-R
ou

re

C
us

to
m

er
 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
D

ir
ec

to
r

S.
 C

ha
rle

s

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
T

ra
ck

in
g

A
na

ly
tic

s D
ep

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

S.
 L

ou
is

G
en

er
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s
D

ir
ec

to
r

J. 
La

M
ar

ca

Pr
oj

ec
t 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

D
ep

t T
ea

m
 3

E
xe

c P
ro

je
ct

 M
gr

(V
ac

an
t)

T
ec

hn
ic

al
Se

rv
ic

es
A

ct
in

g 
D

ir
ec

to
r

E.
 M

cD
on

al
d

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

E
ne

rg
y 

&
Su

st
ai

na
bi

lit
y

B
. J

un
g

M
an

ag
em

en
t

Se
rv

ic
es

D
ir

ec
to

r 
(V

ac
an

t)

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
&

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
K

. S
ho

um
ac

kh
er

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
(V

ac
an

t)

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r

Pu
bl

ic
 S

af
et

y
G

. N
el

so
n

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t

Fo
r 

L
ea

se
d 

H
ou

si
ng

(V
ac

an
t)

E
xe

cu
tiv

e
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t 
Fo

r 
R

ea
l E

st
at

e
T.

 W
hi

te
s

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t F

or
 

R
ea

l E
st

at
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

(V
ac

an
t)

Fa
m

ily
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

ps
Se

ni
or

 D
ir

ec
to

r
U

. B
us

gi
th

 

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t F

or
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
In

iti
at

iv
es

J. 
Pr

im
ea

u

C
or

po
ra

te
 S

ec
re

ta
ry

V
. H

ue
rta

s

Q
ue

en
s /

 S
I 

Pr
op

er
ty

M
an

ag
em

en
t D

ep
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
R

. D
av

is

E
ne

rg
y 

Pr
og

ra
m

s
D

ir
ec

to
r

S.
 M

am
m

en

N
ex

tG
en

O
ps

 1
 

Pr
op

er
ty

M
an

ag
em

en
t D

ep
t

D
ir

ec
to

r  
O

. H
ay

w
ar

dC
hi

ef
 o

f S
ta

ff
A

. S
ok

ol
ow

A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 &
T

en
an

cy
 A

dm
in

D
ir

ec
to

r
L.

 M
ar

ot
taV

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t 
Fo

r 
T

en
an

cy
 A

dm
in

L.
 H

ar
ris

R
ec

ov
er

y 
&

 
R

es
ili

en
ce

D
ir

ec
to

r 
M

. M
oo

re

Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y
Pr

og
ra

m
s

D
ir

ec
to

r
V

. K
en

ni
ff

H
ea

lth
 In

iti
at

iv
es

D
ir

ec
to

r
A

. M
at

a

Q
ua

lit
y 

A
ss

ur
an

ce
C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
&

T
ra

in
in

g 
D

ep
t

D
ir

ec
to

r
R

. C
or

re
a

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
Sa

fe
ty

 &
 Q

ua
lit

y
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

A
. E

us
ta

ce

A
ct

in
g 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t &
 

C
hi

ef
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
O

ff
ic

er
E.

 W
el

ls
 H

an
dy

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t 

Fo
r 

Fi
na

nc
e

T.
 R

ob
er

ts

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
V

ic
e-

Pr
es

id
en

t o
f

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
C

. P
en

ni
ng

to
n

V
ic

e-
Pr

es
id

en
t F

or
 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ou
si

ng
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

C
. J

as
pe

r

St
ra

te
gi

c 
In

iti
at

iv
es

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

. G
ut

el
le

H
ea

lth
y 

H
om

es
D

ir
ec

to
r

S.
 R

ia
zi

K
er

m
an

i

E
m

pl
oy

ee
E

ng
ag

em
en

t
D

ir
ec

to
r

Y
. A

nd
in

o

N
E

W
 Y

O
R

K
 C

IT
Y

 H
O

U
SI

N
G

 A
U

T
H

O
R

IT
Y

 O
R

G
A

N
IZ

A
T

IO
N

 C
H

A
R

T

17





Marble Hill Houses, Borough of The Bronx 





21

NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY 
LIST OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 
June 15, 2018 

NAME TITLE 

NYCHA BOARD 
Stanley Brezenoff………………………………….. Interim Chair & Chief Executive 

Officer 
Jacqueline Arroyo………………………………….. Resident Board Member 
Derrick Cephas…………………………………….. 
Zaire Dinzey-Flores………………………………... 

Vice Chair 
Board Member 

Victor A. Gonzalez………………………………… Resident Board Member 
Nnenna Lynch…………………………………....... Board Member 
Jacqueline Young………………………………….. Resident Board Member 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
Vito Mustaciuolo…………………………………... General Manager & Chief Operating 

Officer 
Deborah Goddard………………………………….. Executive Vice-President for Capital 

Projects 
Kerri Jew…………………………………………. 

Kelly MacNeal……………………………………... 

Robert Marano……………………………………... 

Executive Vice-President & Chief 
Administrative Officer 
Acting Executive Vice-President for 
Legal Affairs & General Counsel 
Executive Vice-President & Chief 
Information Officer 

Lakesha Miller……………………………………... Executive-Vice President for Leased 
Housing  

Cathy Pennington………………………………….. 

David Pristin………………………………………. 

Sideya Sherman……………………………………. 

Edna Wells Handy…………………………………. 

Takisia Whites……………………………………... 

Executive Vice-President for 
Operations 
Executive Vice-President for External 
Affairs  
Executive Vice-President Community 
Engagement & Partnerships 
Acting Executive-Vice-President & 
Chief Compliance Officer 
Executive Vice-President for Real 
Estate 

Tricia Roberts……………………………………… Vice-President for Finance 

Daniel Frydberg……………………………………. Acting Controller 





FINANCIAL SECTION 

Beach 41ST Street Houses, Borough of Queens 





REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
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Deloitte & Touche LLP 
30 Rockefeller Plaza 
New York, NY 10112 
USA 
Tel: +1-212-492-4000 
Fax: +1-212-489-1687 
www.deloitte.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Board of Directors and the Audit Committee of the 
New York City Housing Authority 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying statements of net position of the New York City Housing Authority 
(the “Authority”), a component unit of The City of New York, as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and 
the related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Authority as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in financial 
position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Authority restated its beginning net position as of 
January 1, 2016, to reflect the impact of implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. 
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Changes in NYCHA’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, 
Schedule of the Authority’s Contributions to the New York City Employees’ Retirement System 
(NYCERS), and Schedule of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability of 
NYCERS, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.   We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The Introductory Section and Statistical 
Section, listed in the foregoing table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are 
not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The Introductory Section and Statistical Section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied 
in the audits of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on them. 

June 15, 2018

28



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

(UNAUDITED) 

      South Beach Houses, Borough of Staten Island
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY      

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016 

The following is a narrative overview and analysis of the Authority’s financial activities for the years ended 
December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the beginning of this 
report, the Authority’s financial statements following this section and the notes to the financial statements.   

OVERVIEW OF THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Statements of Net Position present the Authority’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows at the end of the year.   Net position is the difference between (a) assets and deferred outflows and (b) 
liabilities and deferred inflows. Over time, increases or decreases in Net Position is a useful indicator as to 
whether the Authority’s financial health is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position report the Authority’s operating results 
and how its Net Position changed during the year.  All Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position are 
reported on an accrual basis of accounting, which reports events as they occur, rather than when cash changes 
hands (cash basis of accounting). 

The Statements of Cash Flows report how the Authority’s cash and cash equivalents increased or decreased 
during the year. The statement reports how cash and cash equivalents were provided by and used in the 
Authority’s operating, non-capital financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities.  The 
Authority uses the direct method of presenting cash flows, which includes a reconciliation of operating income 
or loss to cash flows related to operating activities. 

The Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements, disclosing information 
which is essential to a full understanding of the statements. 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY AND STATISTICAL INFORMATION 

The Required Supplementary Information presents information regarding: (1) the Authority’s changes in 
total OPEB Liability and related ratios; (2) the Authority’s contributions to the New York City Employees’ 
Retirement System (“NYCERS”), and (3) the Authority’s proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability of 
NYCERS. 

The Statistical Section provides information on the Authority’s overall economic condition.  The major 
categories presented are: (1) financial trends; (2) revenue capacity; (3) debt capacity; (4) demographic and 
economic information; and (5) operating information. 
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND ANALYSIS 

The Authority’s Loss before capital contributions for 2017 was $329 million, compared to a loss of $361 
million for 2016.  This favorable variance of $32 million is comprised of favorable variances of $21 million in 
Operating Revenues, $10 million in Non-operating revenues, net, and $1 million in Operating Expenses.      

The Authority implemented GASB Statement No. 75 (“GASB 75”), Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions during 2017 (see Note 1). The financial impact of implementing 
GASB 75 was a restatement increasing Opening Net Position as of January 1, 2016 by $144 million (see Note 
2). 

The $21 million increase in Operating Revenues is comprised of $10 million in tenant revenue, net, due to 
an increase in the average monthly rent including households required to pay 30 percent of family income 
towards rent, plus $11 million in Other income, primarily representing an $8 million reduction of contract 
retention liabilities and $5 million in Developer Fees recognized in connection with the Section 8 Recap 
transaction. 

The decrease of $1 million in Operating Expenses consists of $36 million in Maintenance and operations, 
primarily due to a reduction in current year pollution and remediation costs to $17 million (see Note 11), and 
$31 million in OPEB due primarily to a decrease in the interest rate. These decreases were mostly offset by 
increases of $46 million in Rent for leased dwellings due to an increase in the average per unit costs and 
additional units arising from the Oceanside-Bayside Rental Assistance Demonstration mixed finance 
transaction and $20 million in Utilities, primarily representing higher costs for electricity and heating gas.  

The $10 million increase in Non-operating revenues and expenses, net, is primarily comprised of an increase 
of $30 million in Subsidies and grants, partially offset by decreases of $9 million in investment income, 
primarily representing interest income of $13 million on the Section 8 Recap Note, received in March 2017, 
but fully recognized as income in 2016 (see Note 20), and $6 million in insurance recoveries. The increase in 
subsidies is primarily comprised of increases of $28 million in subsidy from Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (“FEMA”) for excess fuel costs related to Superstorm Sandy, and $28 million in Section 8 Housing 
Assistance Payments (“HAP”) subsidy to cover the increased costs in the Leased Housing Program, partially 
offset by a decrease of $22 million in Federal Operating Subsidy, due to a reduction in subsidy eligibility, and 
$5 million in City of New York Subsidies (see Note 18).   

In December 2017, the Authority entered into two 20-year Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreements with 
Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) in the amounts of $60 million and $43 million, 
respectively, to finance Energy Performance Contracts (“EPC”).  The first financing agreement and EPC 
will enable the Authority to upgrade common area and apartment lighting, and apartment heating controls 
at twenty-three (23) developments.  The second financing agreement and EPC will enable the Authority to 
upgrade common area and apartment lighting at eighteen (18) developments, heating controls at 17 
developments and ventilation repairs at 9 developments. Both Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreements with 
BAPCC will mature in December 2037.  These EPC plans provide HUD-sponsored EPC funding at these 
developments, thereby enabling the Authority to use its Federal Capital funds for other capital 
improvements pursuant to the Authority’s Five-Year Capital Plan.  
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Summary of Net Position ($ in thousands) 
 

2017 2016 2015
Restated

Current and other assets 2,577,292$    2,406,787$    2,032,996$    
Capital assets, net 6,581,745     6,286,574     5,933,251     
Total Assets 9,159,037   8,693,361   7,966,247   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 172,927      247,616      89,446        

Current liabilities 1,051,354     923,574        762,632        
Non-current liabilities 5,088,319     5,158,165     5,048,265     
Total Liabilities 6,139,673   6,081,739   5,810,897   

Deferred Inflows of Resources 259,180      283,875      93,706        

Net investment in capital assets 5,995,349     5,692,787     5,407,064     
Unrestricted deficit (3,062,238)    (3,117,424)    (3,255,974)    
Total Net Position 2,933,111$ 2,575,363$ 2,151,090$  

December 31, 2017 vs. December 31, 2016 Restated ($ in thousands) 

•   The Authority’s Net Position increased by $357,748 from the prior year, comprised of Capital 
contributions of $686,619, net of a Loss before capital contributions of $328,871. 

• The $170,505 increase in Current and other assets is due primarily to increases of $215,930 in Accounts 
receivable, net (see Note 4) and $27,784 in deposits and investments, partially offset by a decrease of 
$71,102 in Notes and loans receivable, net (Note 5).  The increase in Accounts receivable, net primarily 
represents $237,053 due from FEMA, based on a certain funding agreement. The decrease in Notes and 
loans receivable, net primarily consists of $103,834 from the Section 8 Transaction partially offset by an 
increase of $41,762 for the Ocean Bay Rental Assistance Demonstration (“RAD”) program.  

• The increase of $295,171 in Capital assets, net is comprised of the current year additions of $671,262 less 
Depreciation expense of $370,938, and the net book value of the capital assets sold or retired (see Note 8). 
 

• The decrease of $74,689 in Deferred Outflows of Resources from $247,616 to $172,927 is primarily 
comprised of a decrease of $108,148 in deferred amount on pensions, due primarily to the favorable 
difference between projected and actual investment earnings on pension plan investments during fiscal 
year 2017.  This is partially offset by an increase of $34,735 in deferred amount on OPEB due primarily to 
changes in assumptions. 

 
• The increase of $127,780 in Current liabilities primarily represents $185,518 in funds received from or 

amounts billed to FEMA (see Note 13) for costs not yet incurred, in accordance with the funding 
agreement, partially offset by a decrease of $51,349 in Accounts Payable (see Note 9). 

 
• The $69,846 decrease in Non-current liabilities primarily represents a decrease of $181,387 in the Net 

pension liability due primarily to (1) favorable variances between projected and actual investment earnings 
on pension plan investments; (2) favorable variances between expected and actual experience, due to 
changes in demographic data; and (3) a decrease in the Authority’s employer allocation percentage in fiscal 
year 2017 (see Note 16). Unearned Revenue from the Development transactions also decreased $19,783 
(see Note 20). These decreases are partially offset by increases of $78,536 in the unfunded OPEB liability 
(see Note 16) and $63,323 in Long-term debt, due primarily to the issuance of new equipment purchase 
agreements to finance energy performance contracts (see Note 14). 
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• The Deferred Inflows of Resources decrease of $24,695 is due to a decrease of $83,317 in deferred inflow
amounts on housing assistance payments, partially offset by increases in deferred inflow amounts of
$34,620 on pensions, due to the 2017 difference between projected and actual earnings on the New York
City Employees’ Retirement System (“NYCERS”) pension investment portfolio and $24,002 on OPEB
due primarily to differences between expected and actual experience.

December 31, 2016 Restated vs. December 31, 2015 ($ in thousands) 

• The Authority’s Net Position increased by $424,273 from the prior year, which includes an increase of
$144,116, representing the cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75. Excluding this adjustment, the
Authority’s Net Position increased by $280,157, comprised of Capital contributions of $640,887, net of a
Loss before capital contributions of $360,730.

• The $373,791 increase in Current and other assets is due primarily to increases of $147,427 in Accounts
receivable, net, $151,838 in Notes and loans receivable, net, and $76,524 in deposits and investments. The
increase in Accounts receivable, net primarily represents $102,682 due from the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (“FEMA”), based on a certain funding agreement and $20,395 from Community
Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery Funds (“CDBG-DR”) in connection with Sandy. The
increase in Notes and loans receivable, net primarily consists of $108,012 from the Section 8 Transaction.

• The increase of $353,323 in Capital assets, net is comprised of the current year additions of $711,559 less
Depreciation expense of $357,611, and the net book value of the capital assets sold or retired.

• The increase of $158,170 in Deferred Outflows of Resources from $89,446 to $247,616 is due primarily to
the increase in the Authority’s net pension liability of the NYC Employees’ Retirement System due to a
change in mortality assumptions and the 2016 net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments.

• The increase of $160,942 in Current liabilities primarily represents $111,956 in funds received from or
amounts billed to FEMA for costs not yet incurred, in accordance with the funding agreement. This amount
is partially offset by expenditures of $60,602 relating to emergency costs, protective services and in-kind
repair costs for Sandy accrued in prior years.

• The $109,900 increase in Non-current liabilities is primarily comprised of increases of $187,500 in the Net
pension liability and Unearned revenue of $105,206 arising from Development Transactions comprised of
$65,517 from the Section 8 Transaction and $39,689 from the RAD transaction, and $10,792 in Long-term
debt and $11,865 in Claims Payable.  These increases are partially offset by a decrease of $205,280 in the
OPEB Liability due to the implementation of GASB 75 in 2017 (see Note 2).

• The Deferred Inflows of Resources increase of $190,169 is comprised of deferred amounts of $154,485 on
OPEB due to the implementation of GASB 75 and $83,317 on housing assistance payments, partially offset
by a decrease of $47,633 in deferred amount on pension, due to the 2016 difference between projected and
actual earnings on NYCERS pension investment portfolio, which are required to be netted with deferred
outflow of resources.



35 

Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position ($ in thousands) 

2017 2016 2015
Restated

OPERATING REVENUES:
Tenant revenue, net 1,051,628$    1,041,574$    990,524$    
Other income 56,766 45,744 45,749 

Total Operating Revenues 1,108,394         1,087,318         1,036,273         

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Rent for leased dwellings 987,017 940,722 946,968 
General and administrative 838,400 847,573 810,374 
Utilities 554,542 534,797 575,017 
Maintenance and operations 671,615 707,929 619,594 
Depreciation 370,938 357,611 344,377 
OPEB expense 136,767 168,061 (97,357) 
Protective services 22,353 24,640 22,904 
Tenant services 18,164 19,307 22,618 

Total Operating Expenses 3,599,796         3,600,640         3,244,495         

OPERATING LOSS (2,491,402)       (2,513,322)       (2,208,222)       

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Subsidies and grants 2,154,174         2,124,415         2,213,763         
Insurance recoveries 809 6,701 45,027 
Investment income 16,080 25,231 10,249 
Gain on the sales of capital assets 22,397 28,730 12,579 
Interest expense (30,005) (29,169) (29,911) 
Debt financing costs (179) (185) (353) 
Change in fair value of investments (745) (3,131) (3,700) 

Total Non-Operating Revenues, Net 2,162,531         2,152,592         2,247,654         

GAIN (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (328,871)          (360,730)          39,432 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 686,619 640,887 433,505 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 357,748 280,157 472,937 

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, as previously stated 2,575,363         2,151,090         1,678,153         
Cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75 - 144,116 - 
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, as restated 2,575,363         2,295,206         1,678,153         

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,933,111$    2,575,363$    2,151,090$    
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2017 vs. 2016 Restated ($ in thousands) 

• The Operating Loss for the Authority decreased $21,920, from $2,513,322 in 2016 to $2,491,402 in 2017,
due to a $21,076 increase in Operating Revenues, plus an $844 decrease in Operating Expenses.

• The $21,076 increase in Operating Revenues is comprised of $10,054 in tenant revenue, net, due to an
increase in the average monthly rent including households required to pay 30 percent of family income
towards rent, plus $11,022 in Other income, primarily representing an $8,077 reduction of contract
retention liabilities and $5,309 in Developer Fees recognized primarily in connection with the Section
8 Recap transaction.

• The $844 decrease in Operating Expenses is led by decreases of $36,314 in Maintenance and operations,
primarily current year pollution and remediation costs (see Note 11), and $31,294 in OPEB, comprised
primarily of a decrease in interest of $10,854 due to a decrease in the discount rate from 3.71% to 3.16%.
These decreases were mostly offset by an increase of $46,295 in Rent for leased dwellings due to an
increase in the average per unit voucher costs and additional units arising from the Oceanside-Bayside
Rental Assistance Demonstration mixed finance transaction, plus an increase of $19,745 in Utilities,
primarily representing higher costs for electricity and heating gas.

• Non-operating revenues and expenses, net, increased by $9,939, primarily representing an increase of
$29,759 in Subsidies and grants, partially offset by decreases of $9,151 in investment income, primarily
representing interest income on the Section 8 Recap Note, received in March 2017, but fully recognized as
income in 2016 (see Note 20), and $5,892 in insurance recoveries. The increase in subsidies is primarily
comprised of increases of $28,180 in subsidy from FEMA mainly for the excess fuel costs for the mobile
boilers related to Superstorm Sandy (see Note 21), and $28,266 in Section 8 HAP subsidy to cover the
increased costs in the Leased Housing Program (see above bullet), partially offset by a decrease of $22,454
in Federal Operating Subsidy, due to a reduction in subsidy eligibility, and $5,282 in City of New York
Subsidies.

• Capital Contributions increased $45,732 to $686,619.  The current year contributions are primarily
comprised of $289,068 from FEMA, $193,278 for the Capital Fund Program, and $51,040 for CDBG-DR
relating to Superstorm Sandy.

2016 Restated vs. 2015 ($ in thousands) 

• The Operating Loss for the Authority increased $305,100, from $2,208,222 in 2015 to $2,513,322 in 2016,
due to a $356,145 increase in Operating Expenses, partially offset by a $51,045 increase in Operating
Revenues.

• The $51,045 increase in Operating Revenues is primarily due to an increase in the average monthly
rent including households required to pay 30 percent of family income towards rent.

• The $356,145 increase in Operating Expenses is led by an increase of $265,418 in OPEB expense, due to
a gain during the prior year resulting from lower than expected premium increases for Medicare Part B,
Welfare fund contributions, and medical premiums. Maintenance and operations increased by $88,335
mainly due to operations initiatives including work order reduction, exterminating and tree pruning.
General and administrative increased $37,199 of which $27,508 is due to the forgiveness of PILOT agreed
to by the City during the prior year and $29,863 in pension costs, partially offset by a decrease of $12,894
in insurance costs, primarily for general liability insurance. These increases are partially offset by a
decrease of $40,220 in Utilities, primarily due to lower rates for heating gas and electricity.
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• Non-operating revenues and expenses, net, decreased by $95,062, primarily representing a decrease of
$89,348 in Subsidies and grants, primarily subsidy from The City to cover collective bargaining general
wage increases due to non-recurring retroactive subsidies, and special initiatives.

• Capital Contributions increased $207,382 to $640,887, primarily representing contributions from FEMA
and CDBG-DR relating to Superstorm Sandy.

Revenues and Expenses on a Gross Basis ($ in thousands) 

The following table shows revenues and expenses on a gross basis.  Non-operating revenues are included 
in total program revenues and non-operating expenses are included in total program expenses. The 
components of this table are explained in the commentary following the Summary of Revenues, Expenses, 
and Changes in Net Position. 

2017 2016 2015
Restated

Program Revenues:
Subsidies and grants 2,154,174$   2,124,415$   2,213,763$   
Operating revenues 1,108,394     1,087,318     1,036,273     
Insurance recoveries 809 6,701 45,027          
Investment income 16,080          25,231          10,249          
Gain on the sales of capital assets 22,397          28,730          12,579          
Total Program Revenues 3,301,854     3,272,395     3,317,891     

Program Expenses:
Operating expenses 3,599,796     3,600,640     3,244,495     
Interest expense 30,005          29,169          29,911          
Debt financing costs 179 185 353 
Change in fair value of investments 745 3,131 3,700 
Total Program Expenses 3,630,725     3,633,125     3,278,459     

Gain (Loss) before Capital Contributions (328,871)       (360,730)       39,432          

Capital Contributions 686,619        640,887        433,505        

Change in Net Position 357,748        280,157        472,937        

Net Position, Beginning of Year, as previously stated 2,575,363     2,151,090     1,678,153     
Cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75 - 144,116 - 
Net Position, Beginning of Year, as restated 2,575,363     2,295,206     1,678,153     

Net Position, End of Year 2,933,111$   2,575,363$   2,151,090$   
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets, net and the debt related to capital assets for the three years ended December 31 are as 
follows:  

Net Investment in Capital Assets ($ in thousands) 

2017 2016 2015
Land 689,847$    689,847$    689,847$    
Construction in progress 1,235,972      1,050,432      1,338,926      
Buildings 3,173,239      3,178,487      3,175,077      
Building improvements 9,170,548      8,757,216      7,817,510      
Facilities and other improvements 489,879         477,498         467,446         
Furniture and equipment 829,440         797,444         790,158         
Leasehold improvements 112,994         112,994         112,994         
Total Capital Assets 15,701,919    15,063,918    14,391,958    
Less accumulated depreciation 9,120,174      8,777,344      8,458,707      
Capital Assets, net 6,581,745      6,286,574      5,933,251      
Less related debt 586,396         593,787         526,187         
Net Investment in Capital Assets 5,995,349$    5,692,787$    5,407,064$    

For additional information on Capital Assets and Long-Term Debt see Note 8 and Note 14, respectively. 



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Sandy Recovery to Resiliency, Redfern Houses, Borough of Queens 

October 30, 2017 
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016
Restated

($ in Thousands)
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 505,796$    447,026$    
Accounts receivable, net 634,988 419,058 
Notes and loans receivable, net 107,819 178,921 
Investments 276,907 337,797 
Prepaid expenses 101,963 103,584 
Inventories, net 12,575 13,061 

Total current assets 1,640,048 1,499,447 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Land and construction in progress 1,925,819 1,740,279 
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 4,655,926 4,546,295 
Cash for claims payable 66,698 29,406 
Investments for claims payable 315,992 354,745 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 523,203 491,847 
Restricted investments 31,351 31,342 

Total non-current assets 7,518,989 7,193,914 

Total assets 9,159,037 8,693,361 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Deferred amount on refunding 3,491 4,767 
Deferred amount on OPEB 34,735 - 
Deferred amount on pensions 134,701 242,849 

Total deferred outflows of resources 172,927 247,616 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 125,893 177,242 
Accrued liabilities 293,489 284,137 
Claims payable 82,980 80,583 
Current portion of long-term debt 36,647 35,145 
Accrued leave time 75,770 73,962 
Pollution remediation obligations 20,101 21,174 
Unearned revenues and other current liabilities 416,474 251,331 

Total current liabilities 1,051,354 923,574 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt 763,520 700,197 
Claims payable 382,690 384,151 
Unearned revenue 222,889 242,672 
Accrued leave time 112,122 117,098 
Net pension liability 1,032,725 1,214,112 
OPEB liability 2,562,879 2,484,343 
Pollution remediation obligations 1,798 3,698 
Other liabilities 9,696 11,894 

Total non-current liabilities 5,088,319 5,158,165 

Total liabilities 6,139,673 6,081,739 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Deferred amount on housing assistance payments - 83,317 
Deferred amount on OPEB 178,487 154,485 
Deferred amount on pensions 80,693 46,073 

Total deferred inflows of resources 259,180 283,875 

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 5,995,349 5,692,787 
Unrestricted deficit (3,062,238)        (3,117,424)        

TOTAL NET POSITION 2,933,111$    2,575,363$    

      See notes to the financial statements. 
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016
Restated

OPERATING REVENUES:
Tenant revenue, net 1,051,628$    1,041,574$    
Other income 56,766 45,744 

Total operating revenues 1,108,394         1,087,318         

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Rent for leased dwellings 987,017 940,722 
General and administrative 838,400 847,573 
Utilities 554,542 534,797 
Maintenance and operations 671,615 707,929 
Depreciation 370,938 357,611 
OPEB 136,767 168,061 
Protective services 22,353 24,640 
Tenant services 18,164 19,307 

Total operating expenses 3,599,796         3,600,640         

OPERATING LOSS (2,491,402)        (2,513,322)        

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Subsidies and grants 2,154,174         2,124,415         
Insurance recoveries 809 6,701 
Investment income 16,080 25,231 
Gain on the sales of capital assets 22,397 28,730 
Interest expense (30,005) (29,169) 
Debt financing costs (179) (185) 
Change in fair value of investments (745) (3,131) 

Total non-operating revenues, net 2,162,531         2,152,592         

LOSS BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (328,871) (360,730) 

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 686,619 640,887 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 357,748 280,157 

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, as previously stated 2,575,363         2,151,090         
Cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75 (see Note 2) - 144,116 
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR, as restated 2,575,363         2,295,206         

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,933,111$    2,575,363$    

See notes to the financial statements. 
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016

Restated
($ in Thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received from tenants 1,044,198$   1,026,465$   
Other operating receipts 62,220          39,932          
Cash payments to employees (1,213,753)    (1,133,228)    
Cash payments for other operating expenses (2,068,283)    (1,940,421)    

Net cash used in operating activities (2,175,618)    (2,007,252)    

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Subsidies and grants received 2,050,990     2,117,909     
Insurance recoveries 4,275 40,694          

Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 2,055,265     2,158,603     

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Contributions for capital 619,509        588,762        
Proceeds from the sale of long term debt 115,738        51,642          
Proceeds from development transactions 95,311          134,999        
Sale of capital assets 7,767 5,916 
Development and modernization costs (600,127)       (658,435)       
Payments on long-term debt (46,050)         (33,637)         
Interest payments on bonds and mortgages (34,368)         (34,024)         
Notes and Loans Receivable (24,209)         (151,838)       
Debt financing costs (179) (185) 

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities 133,392        (96,800)         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of investment securities (153,770)       (683,549)       
Proceeds from sale and maturities of investment securities 252,659        783,871        
Interest on investments 15,490          25,104          

Net cash provided by investing activities 114,379        125,426        

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 127,418        179,977        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR:
Cash and cash equivalents, including cash for claims payable 476,432        410,765        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 491,847        377,537        

Total cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 968,279        788,302        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR:
Cash and cash equivalents, including cash for claim payable 572,494        476,432        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 523,203        491,847        

Total cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,095,697$   968,279$   

   See notes to the financial statements. 

(continued on the following page) 
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016
Restated

(in Thousands)
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH
  USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

OPERATING LOSS (2,491,402)$   (2,513,322)$   

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating
  activities:
    Depreciation 370,938          357,611          
    Cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75 for OPEB -                     144,116          
    (Increase) decrease in assets and deferred outflows:
      Tenants accounts receivable (21,554)          (3,111)            
      Accounts receivable - other (1,295)            2,409              
      Prepaid expenses 1,621              1,665              
      Inventories, net 486                 333                 
      Deferred outflows on pensions 108,148          (159,687)        
      Deferred outflows on OPEB (34,735)          -                     
    Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts - tenants 12,080            (12,576)          
    Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts - other,
       net of non-capital financing activities 1,282              (8,232)            
    Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows:
      Accounts payable (51,349)          21,737            
      Accrued liabilities, net of interest and capital items (19,865)          (14,012)          
      Claims payable 936                 10,781            
      Accrued leave time (3,168)            2,385              
      Unearned revenues and other current liabilities, net of prepaid subsidy
          and current portion of Section 8 Recap unearned revenue 1,659              88                   
      Net pension liability (181,387)        187,500          
      OPEB liability 78,536            (205,280)        
      Pollution remediation obligations (2,973)            (9,928)            
      Other non-current liabilities (2,198)            102                 
      Deferred inflows on housing assistance payments -                     83,317            
      Deferred inflows on OPEB 24,002            154,485          
      Deferred inflows on pensions 34,620            (47,633)          
        Total adjustments 315,784          506,070          

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,175,618)$   (2,007,252)$   

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON CASH ACTIVITIES:
  Investing activities:
    Unrealized loss on investments (745)$             (3,131)$          
  Capital and related financing activities:
    Amortization of deferred amount on refunding (1,276)            (1,517)            
    Amortization of bond premium 4,683              5,705              
    Capital Contributions 41,142            -                     

 

See notes to the financial statements. 
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Organization

The New York City Housing Authority (the “Authority”), created in 1934, is a public benefit 
corporation chartered under New York State Public Housing Law.  The Authority develops, 
constructs, manages and maintains affordable housing for eligible low-income families in the five 
boroughs of New York City.  At December 31, 2017, the Authority maintained 325 housing 
developments encompassing approximately 176,000 total units, including 167,000 federally funded 
units, housing approximately 392,000 residents.  The Authority also operates a leased housing 
program, which provides housing assistance payments to approximately 86,000 families, housing 
approximately 202,000 residents. 

Substantial operating losses result from the costs of essential services that the Authority provides 
exceeding revenues.  To meet the funding requirements of these operating losses, the Authority 
receives subsidies from:  (a) the federal government, primarily the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (“HUD”), in the form of annual grants for operating assistance, debt service 
payments, contributions for capital and reimbursement of expenditures incurred for certain federal 
housing programs; (b) New York State in the form of debt service and capital payments; and (c) The 
City of New York in the form of subsidies and capital payments.  Subsidies are established through 
budgetary procedures, which establish amounts to be funded by the grantor agencies. 

The Authority maintains its accounting records by program.  The following programs are operated by 
the Authority: 

Federal Programs - The Authority receives federal financial assistance from HUD in the form of 
annual contributions for debt service and operating subsidies for public housing developments, as well 
as rent subsidies for the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program (“HCVP”).  In addition, 
assistance is received under HUD’s Public and Indian Housing Development Programs, Capital Fund 
Program, and other programs. 

Funds received are used to provide maintenance, operating, and administrative services to federally 
aided low rent public housing developments.  HCVP funds are used to reimburse private landlords for 
their participation in providing housing for low-income families at reduced rents.  The funds cover 
the differential between the reduced rents charged to tenants and prevailing fair market rates based on 
rent reasonableness.  Debt service fund contributions provide for the payment of principal and interest 
on outstanding debt as it matures.  Contributions for capital provide for modernization and 
development costs. 
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New York State and The City of New York Programs - The Authority receives financial assistance 
from New York State (the “State”) in the form of annual contributions for debt service and capital.  
The Authority also receives financial assistance from the City in the form of subsidies and 
contributions for capital.   

Other Programs - The Authority receives funding for other programs, including Federal assistance 
from the U.S. Department of Agriculture for child and adult care food and summer food service 
programs, and from HUD, the State, and the City for several other grant programs. 

B. Reporting Entity

The Authority is a component unit of the City, based upon criteria for defining the reporting entity as 
identified and described in the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (“GASB”) Codification 
of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, Sections 2100 and 2600. 

The Authority’s operations include two blended component units which are included in the 
Authority’s basic financial statements, in compliance with GASB 61 The Financial Reporting Entity: 
Omnibus – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and No. 34.  These are legally separate entities 
with the same governing body as the Authority for which the Authority has operational responsibility 
and are controlled by the Authority. There is a financial benefit/burden relationship between the 
Authority and the component units since the Authority is responsible for providing operating and 
capital subsidies to the component units. The blended component units include: 

• NYCHA Public Housing Preservation I, LLC

• NYCHA Public Housing Preservation II, LLC

Additional information relating to these blended component units can be found in Note 25 to the 
financial statements. NYCHA Public Housing Preservation I, LLC (“LLC I”) and NYCHA Public 
Housing Preservation II, LLC (“LLC II”) both issue stand-alone financial reports. These reports can 
be obtained from The New York City Housing Authority, 250 Broadway, New York, New York, 
10007. 

C. Basis of Accounting

The Authority’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles as prescribed by the GASB, using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting wherein revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are 
recognized when the liability is incurred.    

The Authority’s primary source of nonexchange revenue relates to subsidies and grants. Subsidies and 
grants revenue is recognized at the time eligible program expenditures occur and/or the Authority has 
complied with the grant and subsidy requirements, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions. 

The Authority applies Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Codification of 
Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards (“GASB Codification”) Section P80, 
Proprietary Accounting and Financial Reporting.  
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 

GASB Statement No. 74 (“GASB 74”), Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other 
Than Pension Plans. The objective of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about 
postemployment benefits other than pensions (other postemployment benefits or OPEB) included in 
the general purpose external financial reports of state and local governmental OPEB plans for making 
decisions and assessing accountability. This Statement results from a comprehensive review of the 
effectiveness of existing standards of accounting and financial reporting for all postemployment 
benefits (pensions and OPEB) with regard to providing decision-useful information, supporting 
assessments of accountability and inter-period equity, and creating additional transparency. 

This Statement replaces Statements No. 43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans 
Other Than Pension Plans, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and 
Agent Multiple-Employer Plans. It also includes requirements for defined contribution OPEB plans 
that replace the requirements for those OPEB plans in Statement No. 25, Financial Reporting for 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans, as amended, 
Statement No. 43, and Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures.  

The scope of Statement No. 74 includes OPEB plans—defined benefit and defined contribution—
administered through trusts that meet the following criteria: 1) Contributions from employers and non-
employer contributing entities to the OPEB plan and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. 
2) OPEB plan assets are dedicated to providing OPEB to plan members in accordance with the benefit
terms. 3) OPEB plan assets are legally protected from the creditors of employers, non-employer 
contributing entities, and the OPEB plan administrator. If the plan is a defined benefit OPEB plan, 
plan assets also are legally protected from creditors of the plan members.  This Statement also includes 
requirements to address financial reporting for assets accumulated for purposes of providing defined 
benefit OPEB through OPEB plans that are not administered through trusts that meet the specified 
criteria.  

The requirements of this Statement were effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2016.  The 
Authority adopted this Statement in December of 2017. 

The implementation of this standard did not have an impact on the Authority’s financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 75 (“GASB 75”), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve accounting and 
financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions 
(other postemployment benefits or OPEB). It also improves information provided by state and local 
governmental employers about financial support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This 
Statement results from a comprehensive review of the effectiveness of existing standards of 
accounting and financial reporting for all postemployment benefits (pensions and OPEB) with regard 
to providing decision-useful information, supporting assessments of accountability and interperiod 
equity, and creating additional transparency.  
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards (continued) 

This Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting 
by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB 
Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB. Statement No. 
74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, establishes 
new accounting and financial reporting requirements for OPEB plans.  

The scope of this Statement addresses accounting and financial reporting for OPEB that is provided 
to the employees of state and local governmental employers. This Statement establishes standards for 
recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, 
and expense/expenditures. For defined benefit OPEB, Statement No. 75, identifies the methods and 
assumptions that are required to be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit 
payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee 
service. Note disclosure and required supplementary information requirements about defined benefit 
OPEB also are addressed. 

In addition, this Statement details the recognition and disclosure requirements for employers with 
payables to defined benefit OPEB plans that are administered through trusts that meet the specified 
criteria and for employers whose employees are provided with defined contribution OPEB. This 
Statement also addresses certain circumstances in which a non-employer entity provides financial 
support for OPEB of employees of another entity.  

In this Statement, distinctions are made regarding the particular requirements depending upon whether 
the OPEB plans through which the benefits are provided are administered through trusts that meet the 
following criteria: 1) Contributions from employers and non-employer contributing entities to the 
OPEB plan and earnings on those contributions are irrevocable. 2)  OPEB plan assets are dedicated to 
providing OPEB to plan members in accordance with the benefit terms. 3) OPEB plan assets are 
legally protected from the creditors of employers, non-employer contributing entities, the OPEB plan 
administrator, and the plan members.  

The requirements of this Statement were effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2017. The 
Authority early adopted this Statement in December of 2017. 

The most significant change is that, since the OPEB plan does not have assets sufficient to cover the 
projected benefit payments, a discount rate reflecting a 20-year tax-exempt municipal bond yield must 
be used.  This has resulted in a reduction of the discount rate from 4% previously used to 3.17%. 
Implementation of GASB 75 also resulted in significantly more financial statement disclosures. In 
addition, the adoption resulted in a restatement of NYCHA’s 2016 financial statements to reflect the 
reporting of the net OPEB liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, deferred outflows of resources, 
and the recognition of OPEB expense in accordance with the provisions of the Statement (see Note 
2). 
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards (continued) 

GASB Statement No. 82 (“GASB 82”), Pension Issues. The objective of GASB Statement No. 82 is 
to address certain issues that have been raised with respect to Statements No. 67, Financial Reporting 
for Pension Plans, Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, and 
Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not 
within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 
67 and 68.  Specifically, this Statement addresses issues regarding (1) the presentation of payroll-
related measures in required supplementary information, (2) the selection of assumptions and the 
treatment of deviations from the guidance in an Actuarial Standard of Practice for financial reporting 
purposes, and (3) the classification of payments made by employers to satisfy plan member 
contribution requirements.   

The requirements of this Statement were effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2016, 
except for the requirements of this Statement for the selection of assumptions in a circumstance in 
which an employer’s pension liability is measured as of a date other than the employer’s most recent 
fiscal year-end.  In that circumstance, the requirements for the selection of assumptions are effective 
for that employer in the first reporting period in which the measurement date of the pension liability 
is on or after June 15, 2017.  

The implementation of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial 
statements. 

GASB Statement No. 84 (“GASB 84”), “Fiduciary Activities”.   The objective of this Statement is to 
improve guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial 
reporting purposes and how those activities should be reported.  

This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local 
governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the 
assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. 
Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit 
arrangements that are fiduciary activities.  

An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements.  
Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary net position 
and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position.  An exception to that requirement is provided for 
as a business-type activity that normally expects to hold custodial assets for three months or less. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 
2018. Earlier application is encouraged.  The Authority early adopted this Statement in December of 
2017. 

The implementation of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial 
statements. 
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards (continued) 

GASB Statement No. 86 (“GASB 86”), Debt Extinguishment Issues. The primary objective of this 
Statement is to improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance 
of debt by providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with 
only existing resources—resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt—are placed in an 
irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves accounting 
and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial 
statements for debt that is defeased in substance. 

In-Substance Defeasance of Debt Using Only Existing Resources: 
Statement No. 7, Advance Refundings Resulting in Defeasance of Debt, requires that debt be 
considered defeased in substance when the debtor irrevocably places cash or other monetary assets 
acquired with refunding debt proceeds in a trust to be used solely for satisfying scheduled payments 
of both principal and interest of the defeased debt. The trust also is required to meet certain conditions 
for the transaction to qualify as an in-substance defeasance. This Statement establishes essentially the 
same requirements for when a government places cash and other monetary assets acquired with only 
existing resources in an irrevocable trust to extinguish the debt. However, in financial statements using 
the economic resources measurement focus, governments should recognize any difference between 
the reacquisition price (the amount required to be placed in the trust) and the net carrying amount of 
the debt defeased in substance using only existing resources as a separately identified gain or loss in 
the period of the defeasance. Governments that defease debt using only existing resources should 
provide a general description of the transaction in the notes to financial statements in the period of the 
defeasance. In all periods following an in-substance defeasance of debt using only existing resources, 
the amount of that debt that remains outstanding at period-end should be disclosed. 

Prepaid Insurance Related to Extinguished Debt: 
For governments that extinguish debt, whether through a legal extinguishment or through an in-
substance defeasance, this Statement requires that any remaining prepaid insurance related to the 
extinguished debt be included in the net carrying amount of that debt for the purpose of calculating 
the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the debt. 

Additional Disclosure for All In-Substance Defeasance Transactions: 
One of the criteria for determining an in-substance defeasance is that the trust hold only monetary 
assets that are essentially risk-free. If the substitution of essentially risk-free monetary assets with 
monetary assets that are not essentially risk-free is not prohibited, governments should disclose that 
fact in the period in which the debt is defeased in substance. In subsequent periods, governments 
should disclose the amount of debt defeased in substance that remains outstanding for which that risk 
of substitution exists. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2017. 
Earlier application is encouraged.  The Authority early adopted this Statement in December of 2017. 

The implementation of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial 
statements 
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Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 

GASB has issued the following pronouncements that may affect future financial position, results of 
operations, cash flows, or financial presentation of the Authority upon implementation. Management 
has not yet evaluated the effect of implementation of these standards. 

GASB Effective

Statement No. Calendar Year

83 2019

85 2018

87 2020

88

GASB Accounting Standard
Certain Asset Retirement Obligations
Omnibus 2017
Leases
Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including 
Direct Borrowings and Direct Payments 2019

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes amounts on deposit with financial institutions, including bank accounts and certificates 
of deposit.  The Authority considers investments in repurchase agreements and investments with a 
maturity of less than 90 days as cash equivalents. The Authority considers cash and cash equivalents 
held for the repayment of the non-current portion of Claims payable to be non-current assets.  

E. Accounts Receivable

Rents are due from tenants on the first day of each month.  As a result, tenants receivable balances 
primarily consist of rents past due and due from vacated tenants. An allowance for uncollectable 
accounts is established to provide for accounts which may not be collected in the future for any reason.  

The Authority recognizes receivables from HUD and other governmental agencies for amounts earned 
and billed but not received and for amounts earned but unbilled as of year-end. 

F. Notes Receivable

Notes receivable are recorded based on the principal amount indicated in the underlying note 
agreement. An allowance is established where there is uncertainty regarding the collection of the note. 

G. Investments

Investments with maturities of less than twelve months from the time of acquisition are carried at cost.  
Investments in guaranteed investment contracts are reported at an amount equal to principal and 
accrued interest.  All other investments are recorded at fair value, which are based on quoted market 
prices.  Income from investments is recognized on the accrual basis. Realized gains or losses on sales 
of investment securities are accounted for using the specific identification method. The Authority 
combines realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments. 
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H. Prepaid Expenses 

Prepaid expenses represent amounts paid as of year-end which will benefit future operations. 

I. Inventories 

Inventories consist of materials and supplies at the central warehouses, and fuel oil. Materials and 
supplies are valued using the average moving cost method on a first in – first out basis. Fuel oil is 
valued using weighted average cost. Materials and supplies are expensed when shipped from central 
warehouses to the developments.   The Authority maintains an allowance for obsolete inventory. 

J. Capital Assets 

Capital assets include land, structures and equipment recorded at cost and is comprised of initial 
development costs, property betterments and additions, and modernization program costs. The 
Authority depreciates these assets over their estimated useful lives, under normal operating conditions, 
using the straight-line method of depreciation.  The Capitalization Policy is as follows: 

Capital Asset Category Capitalization Threshold Useful Life-Years 

Buildings $50,000 40 

Building Improvements $50,000 25 

Leasehold Improvements $50,000 Up to 15 

Facilities & Other Improvements $50,000 10 

Computer Software $50,000 5 

Telecommunication Equipment $50,000 5 

Computer Hardware $5,000 5 

Furniture and Equipment $5,000 5 to 10 

Ranges and Refrigerators All 10 

K. Accrued Liabilities 

The Authority recognizes a liability for goods and services received but not paid for as of year-end.  
The Authority recognizes a liability for wages and fringe benefits relating to expired collective 
bargaining agreements based on its best estimate of such future payments.  These estimates are based 
on prior patterns and the current status of negotiations among other factors.  Accrued expenses include 
estimates of expenses incurred in relation to Superstorm Sandy.  
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L. Claims Payable

The Authority recognizes a liability for general liability and workers’ compensation claims based 
upon an estimate of all probable losses incurred, both reported and not reported.  The liability for these 
claims is reported in the Statement of Net Position at a discounted amount. 

M. Accrued Leave Time

Accumulated unpaid leave time is accrued at the estimated amounts of future benefits attributable to 
services already rendered. 

N. Unearned Revenue

The Authority’s unearned revenue consists of the prepayment of rent by residents and the receipt of 
governmental program funding where certain eligibility requirements have not been met.  Unearned 
revenue relating to the Section 8 Transaction and the Ocean Bayside RAD transaction are being 
recognized over the fifteen year low income housing tax credit compliance period.  

O. Premium Amortization

The Authority amortizes debt premium amounts over the life of the bonds using the effective interest 
rate through maturity methodology. 

P. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

In accordance with GASB 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred 
inflows of Resources, and Net Position, the Authority reports deferred outflows of resources in the 
Statement of Financial Position in a separate section following Assets and deferred inflows of resources 
in a separate section following liabilities. Gains and losses in connection with advanced refunding of 
debt are recorded as either a deferred outflow (loss) or as a deferred inflow (gain) of resources and 
amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the remaining life of the old or the 
new debt. Pension contributions made to NYCERS subsequent to the actuarial measurement date and 
prior to the Authority’s fiscal year-end are reported as deferred outflows of resources. The net 
differences between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, changes in assumptions 
for pensions and OPEB, and differences in expected and actual experience for pensions and OPEB are 
recorded as either a deferred outflow or as a deferred inflow.  Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher 
Subsidies received prior to the funding period are reported as deferred inflow of resources. 

Q. Use of Restricted Net Position

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for a particular restricted use, it is the 
Authority’s policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as needed. 
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R. Operating Revenues and Expenses

The Authority defines its operating revenues as income derived from charges to residents and others 
for rent and services provided.  Its operating expenses are costs incurred in the operation of its program 
activities to provide services to residents and others.  The Authority classifies other revenues and 
expenses as non-operating. 

S. Capital Contributions

Capital Contributions are recognized at the time eligible program expenditures occur and/or the 
Authority has complied with the grant requirements. 

T. Taxes

The Authority is a public benefit corporation chartered under the New York State Public Housing Law 
and as such is exempt from income taxes and certain other Federal, state and local taxes. 

U. Other Postemployment Benefits

The Authority’s Total OPEB Liability is calculated based on an amount that is actuarially determined 
(see Note 16).  With the implementation of GASB 75, the Authority restated the Total OPEB Liability 
for 2016 (see Note 2). 

V. Net Pension Liability

The Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources, and expense associated with the Authority’s requirement to contribute to 
the New York City Employees’ Retirement System (“NYCERS”) have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by NYCERS.   

2. IMPLEMENTATION OF GASB 75

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions, which was adopted during 2017, the Authority restated amounts
previously reported for 2016, as follows ($ in thousands):

Description
As Previously

Reported Adjustments As Restated

OPEB Liability 2,833,465$   (349,122)$  2,484,343$   
Deferred Inflow of Resources - 154,485 154,485 
OPEB Expense 231,582 (50,521) 181,061 
Implicit Rate Subsidy (13,000) - (13,000) 
Net Position, Beginning of the Year 2,151,090 144,116 2,295,206 
Change in Net Position 229,636 50,521 280,157 
Net Position, End of the Year 2,380,726 194,637 2,575,363 
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2. IMPLEMENTATION OF GASB 75 (continued)

The following amounts were also restated on the Cash Flow Statement for 2016, due to the
implementation of GASB 75 ($ in thousands):

Description
As Previously

Reported Adjustments As Restated

Operating Loss (2,563,843)$   50,521$   (2,513,322)$   

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
    used in operating actvities:
Cumulative effect of implementing GASB 75 - 144,116 144,116 
Increase (Decrease) in OPEB Liability 143,842 (349,122) (205,280) 
Increase in Deferred inflows on OPEB - 154,485 154,485 

3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits

At December 31, 2017, the Authority’s deposits had a carrying amount of $641,280,000 and a bank
balance of $638,625,000.  These deposits were insured up to $250,000 per bank by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”).  Deposits in excess of FDIC coverage were fully collateralized, with
the collateral being held in segregated custodial accounts in the Authority’s name.  Collateral coverage
is monitored and maintained on a daily basis.

Deposits were comprised of the following at December 31, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands):

Bank Balance
Unrestricted 2017 2016

FDIC insured 1,567$  1,792$  
Collateralized 121,788 115,407 

Subtotal 123,355 117,199 

Restricted

FDIC insured 42,888 43,031 
Collateralized 472,382 358,290 

Subtotal 515,270 401,321 

Total Deposits 638,625$  518,520$  

Unrestricted deposits totaling $123,355,000 were largely comprised of replacement reserves for LLC 
I and operating balances for both LLC I and LLC II, totaling $112,107,000.  The remaining balances 
totaling $11,248,000 are eligible for working capital and funding future liabilities, including self-
insurance programs.  The Authority’s unrestricted deposits are held at various banks in interest-
bearing accounts and demand deposit accounts (DDA) without interest. The maximum exposure of 
deposits, represented by the highest daily cash balance held in all deposit accounts maintained by the 
Authority during the year, was $284,852,000.  
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3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

At December 31, 2017, restricted deposits totaling $515,270,000 included funds held in depository
accounts on behalf of Sandy Recovery, escrow funds for several Energy Performance Contracts,
escrow funds for vendor retention, reserves supporting the 2010 mixed-finance transaction,
Certificates of Deposit for tenant security, and tenant participation activity HUD subsidies for use by
resident councils for residents.  In addition, a small part of the total restricted deposits included funds
held by NYC Housing Development Corporation (“HDC) relating to the 2010 mixed-finance
transaction.  The Certificates of Deposits for tenant security will be maturing on March 30, 2018, and
will be reinvested for one year through March 29, 2019.  The liability related to these deposits is
included in unearned revenues and other current liabilities (see Note 13).

Investments

In accordance with GASB 72, NYCHA discloses its investments at fair market value.  The Authority
invests only in securities that fall under GASB’s Level 2 fair market valuation grouping (there are 3
levels in total), as there are comparable and observable traded securities that can be used to accurately
value the Authority’s portfolio of securities. The Authority uses the Bloomberg financial data system
to determine the fair market value of its entire portfolio of securities.  As of December 31, 2017 and
2016, all of the Authority’s long-term investment holdings were in U.S. Governmental agency
securities and GASB 72 requires their fair market value be based on similar bonds that are being
traded.

Unrestricted Investments

The Authority’s investment policies comply with HUD’s guidelines.  These policies restrict the
Authority’s investments to obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies, and their
instrumentalities.  All investments are held in a secured custody account in the name of the Authority.
All investments are publicly traded, and the fair market value was based on published quoted values.
Accrued interest receivable on unrestricted investments was $2,293,000 and $1,785,000 at December
31, 2017 and 2016.

Unrestricted investments stated at fair market value, consist of the following at December 31, 2017
and 2016 ($ in thousands):

Unrestricted 2017 2016

U.S. Government Agency Securities 592,899$  692,542$   
Repurchase Agreements 447,000        438,500      
Total Unrestricted investments, including cash equivalents 1,039,899      1,131,042   
Less: amount reported as unrestricted cash equivalents 447,000        438,500      
Total Unrestricted investments 592,899$  692,542$   

Cash equivalents include investments in repurchase agreements. The maximum exposure of 
investments held in repurchase agreements during the year was $642,785,000. At December 31, 2017, 
the Authority held $447,000,000 in repurchase agreements yielding 1.65 percent. At December 31, 
2016, the Authority held $438,500,000 in repurchase agreements yielding 0.40 percent. 
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3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Unrestricted Investments (continued) 

The maturities of the Authority’s unrestricted investments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as 
follows ($ in thousands):    

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority’s weighted average term to maturity for unrestricted 
investments is 3.33 years and 2.94 years, respectively.  The Authority determines maturity levels 
based upon current available interest rates, expectations for future rates and the appropriate amount 
of liquidity needed for operations.  While HUD’s policy limits the maturities of investments held by 
housing authorities to three years, the Authority has received a HUD waiver to invest long-term 
reserves up to seven years.  

Restricted Investments 

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, NYCHA’s total restricted investments had a fair market value of 
$38,768,000 and $37,796,000, respectively.   These funds were held in Trust supporting loans from 
NYC HDC for the 2013 Capital Fund Financing Program Bonds and the 2010 mixed-finance 
transaction.  The restricted total was comprised of $31,351,000 in restricted investments and 
$7,417,000 in restricted cash equivalents at December 31, 2017 and $31,342,000 in restricted 
investments and $6,454,000 in restricted cash equivalents at December 31, 2016. 

Of the $31,351,000 in restricted investments, $29,824,000 represents debt service reserves for the 
2013 Capital Fund Financing Program Bonds, and the remaining $1,527,000 represents debt service 
reserves for the 2010 mixed-finance transaction.  Accrued interest receivable on restricted investments 
was $874,000 and $792,000 at December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Security Type Total < 1 year 1- 5 years > 5 year Total < 1 year 1- 5 years > 5 year

U.S. Govt 
Agency 
Securities

592,899$    96,269$    337,908$     158,722$    692,542$    198,972$    405,377$    88,193$    

As of December 31, 2017 As of December 31, 2016
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3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Restricted Investments (continued)

Restricted investments stated at fair market value, consisted of the following at December 31, 2017
and 2016 ($ in thousands):

Restricted 2017 2016

Forward Delivery Agreement (debt service reserves) 29,824$       29,824$       
Repurchase Agreements 7,417 6,454 
Municipal Bonds 1,527 1,518 
Total Restricted investments, including cash equivalents 38,768 37,796 
Less amount reported as restricted cash equivalents 7,417 6,454 
Total Restricted investments (not including cash equivalents) 31,351$       31,342$       

The maturities of the Authority restricted investments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows 
($ in thousands):  

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority’s weighted average term to maturity for restricted 
investments is 14.94 years and 15.94 years, respectively. The Fiscal Agents determine maturity levels 
based upon current available interest rates, expectations for future rates and the appropriate amount 
of liquidity needed for NYCHA’s operations. 

Policies governing investments: The Authority has adopted the HUD investment policy outlined in 
HUD Notice PIH-2002-13 (HA), as its formal investment policy.  In accordance with its Annual 
Contributions Contract (the “ACC”) with HUD, the Authority is required to comply with this HUD 
Notice. These guidelines require the Authority to deposit funds in accordance with the terms of a 
General Depository Agreement, which must be in a form approved by HUD and executed between 
the Authority and its depository institutions, and restricts the Authority’s investments to HUD–
authorized securities, such as those issued by the U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and their 
instrumentalities, and requires that all investments be held in a segregated custodial account in the 
name of the Authority.  

Investment Maturities 

Security Type Total 1- 5 years > 5 year Total 1- 5 years > 5 year

Forward Delivery Agreement 29,824$   -$  29,824$   29,824$   -$  29,824$   

Municipal Bonds 1,527$   1,527$   -$   1,518$   -$  1,518$     

Total 31,351$   1,527$   29,824$   31,342$   -$  31,342$   

As of December 31, 2017 As of December 31, 2016
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3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Restricted Investments (continued)

The Authority’s current investment strategy involves consideration of the basic risks of fixed-income
investing, including interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk, and concentration risk.  In managing
these risks, the primary factors considered are safety of principal, yield, liquidity, maturity, and
administrative costs.

Interest rate risk:  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the
fair market value of the Authority’s investment portfolio.  In accordance with the Authority’s
investment policy, interest rate risk is mitigated by holding the securities in the Authority’s portfolio
until maturity, except when a reinvestment strategy may be appropriate.  As an additional manner of
minimizing interest rate risk, the securities of the Authority’s fixed income portfolio have historically
only had fixed coupon rates, and therefore the cash flows will not fluctuate with changes in interest
rates.

Credit Risk:  It is the Authority’s policy to limit its investments to HUD-authorized investments issued
by the U.S. Government, by a U.S. Government agency, or by a Government-sponsored agency. The
Authority’s policy is to invest mostly in Governmental agency and U.S. Treasury securities which are
AA+ and Aaa rated by Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”) or Moody’s, or to place balances in fully
collateralized money market deposit accounts and interest-bearing bank accounts at banks rated A or
better by Moody’s or S&P. As of December 31, 2017 each of the agency securities that were in the
NYCHA investment portfolio had bond ratings as  follows:  Moody’s Aaa and S&P AA+.  Depository
bank accounts maintaining federal funds are fully collateralized, in excess of FDIC insurance, with
Treasury and/or Governmental agency securities.

Concentration Risk:  The Authority strives to invest in only AA+ and Aaa rated Governmental Agency
and/or U.S. Treasury securities. Therefore, the Authority’s policy does not place a limit on
investments with any one issuer.  The Authority’s cash deposits are maintained in fully collateralized
money market deposit accounts and fully collateralized interest-bearing and non-interest bearing (if
required) bank accounts. Consequently, the Authority does not limit deposits to any one bank.
Nonetheless, the Authority strives to diversify holdings in investments, cash and cash equivalents,
whenever possible, to further minimize any potential concentration risk.

Custodial credit risk:  The Authority maintains a perfected security interest in the collateral held on
its behalf by its custodial agents. Custodial credit risk is the risk that the Authority will not be able to
recover its collateral held by a third-party custodian, in the event that the custodian defaults.  The
Authority has no custodial credit risk due to the Authority’s perfected security interest in its collateral
in a segregated custodian account, which is registered in the Authority’s name. The Authority’s policy
requires that all securities shall be maintained in a third-party custodian account and the manner of
collateralization shall provide the Authority with a continuing perfected security interest in the
collateral for the full term of the deposit, in accordance with applicable laws and Federal regulations.
Such collateral shall, at all times, have a market value at least equal to the amount of deposits so
secured.
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4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are comprised of the following ($ in thousands):

2017 2016

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 73,842$  155,090$  
Federal Emergency Management Agency 352,698 115,645 
Due from other government agencies 166,401 107,367 
Tenants accounts receivable 84,763 63,209 
Due from insurance carriers - 3,466 
Other 22,371 26,102 
Total accounts receivable 700,075 470,879 
Less allowance for uncollectable accounts 65,087 51,821 

Accounts receivable, net 634,988$  419,058$  

Accrued interest receivable on investments of $3,167,000 and $2,577,000 at December 31, 2017 and 
2016, respectively, is included in Other. 

The allowance for uncollectable accounts at December 31, 2017 and 2016 consists of the following 
($ in thousands): 

2017 2016

Tenants accounts receivable 53,477$  41,397$  
Due from other government agencies - 94 
Other 11,610 10,330 
Total allowance for uncollectable accounts 65,087$  51,821$  

The provision for bad debts related to tenant revenue is $22,282,000 and $8,769,000 for 2017 and 
2016, respectively. 
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5. NOTES AND LOANS RECEIVABLE

Notes and Loans Receivable at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are comprised of the following ($ in
thousands):

2017 2016

108,249$  66,487$  
54,404 158,238 
39,682 39,682 
12,718 11,814 

9,552 9,552 
8,558 8,558 
5,064 5,064 

Ocean Bay - RAD
Section 8 Transaction
Randolph
Prospect II
Prospect I
Multifamily Home Ownership Program 
1070 Washington Avenue
Fulton 2,000 2,000 
Other 17,137 15,116 
Total Notes and Loans Receivable 257,364 316,511 
Less allowance for uncollectable accounts 149,545 137,590 

Notes and Loans Receivable, net 107,819$  178,921$  

6. PREPAID EXPENSES

Prepaid expenses at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are comprised of the following ($ in thousands):

2017 2016

Water charges 85,771$  86,179$  
Insurance premiums 13,311 14,547 
Rent, leases and other 2,881 2,858 
Total prepaid expenses 101,963$  103,584$  

7. INVENTORIES

Inventories at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows ($ in thousands):

2017 2016

Supplies inventory 8,086$  8,673$  
Allowance for obsolete inventory (545) (483) 
Supplies inventory (net) 7,541 8,190 

Fuel oil inventory 5,034 4,871 
Total inventories 12,575$  13,061$  
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8. CAPITAL ASSETS, NET

A summary of the changes in capital assets, net, which is comprised of land, structures and equipment, 
is as follows: 

   Summary of Changes in Capital Assets, Net ($ in thousands) 

Description
January 1, 

2017
Additions/

Transfers In
Deletions/

Transfers Out
December 31,

2017
Capital Assets not being depreciated:

Land 689,847$    -$   -$     689,847$     
Construction in progress 1,050,432      671,262         (485,722)         1,235,972       

Total Capital Assets not being depreciated 1,740,279      671,262         (485,722)         1,925,819       

Capital Assets being depreciated:
Buildings 3,178,487      - (5,248) 3,173,239       
Building improvements 8,757,216      432,264         (18,932) 9,170,548       
Facilities and other improvements 477,498         12,381           - 489,879          
Furniture and equipment 797,444         41,077           (9,081) 829,440          
Leasehold improvements 112,994         - - 112,994          

Total Capital Assets being depreciated 13,323,639    485,722         (33,261) 13,776,100     

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings 2,911,809      23,419           (5,122) 2,930,106       
Building improvements 4,625,164      306,278         (16,824) 4,914,618       
Facilities and other improvements 441,235         6,846 - 448,081          
Furniture and equipment 703,388         31,049           (6,162) 728,275          
Leasehold improvements 95,748 3,346 - 99,094 

Total Accumulated Depreciation 8,777,344      370,938         (28,108) 9,120,174       

Total Capital Assets being depreciated, net 4,546,295      114,784         (5,153) 4,655,926       

Capital Assets, Net 6,286,574$    786,046$    (490,875)$    6,581,745$     
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8. CAPITAL ASSETS, NET (continued)

  Summary of Changes in Capital Assets, Net ($ in thousands) 

Description
January 1, 

2016
Additions/ 

Transfers In
Deletions/ 

Transfers Out
December 31,

2016
Capital Assets not being depreciated:
Land 689,847$    -$   -$     689,847$     
Construction in progress 1,338,926      711,559        (1,000,053)      1,050,432       

Total Capital Assets not being depreciated 2,028,773      711,559        (1,000,053)      1,740,279       

Capital Assets being depreciated:
Buildings 3,175,077      6,396 (2,986) 3,178,487       
Building improvements 7,817,510      964,080        (24,374)           8,757,216       
Facilities and other improvements 467,446         10,052          - 477,498          
Furniture and equipment 790,158         19,525          (12,239)           797,444          
Leasehold improvements 112,994         - - 112,994          

Total Capital Assets being depreciated 12,363,185    1,000,053     (39,599)           13,323,639     

Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings 2,890,698      24,041          (2,930) 2,911,809       
Building improvements 4,367,515      281,464        (23,815)           4,625,164       
Facilities and other improvements 434,416         6,819 - 441,235          
Furniture and equipment 673,779         41,838          (12,229)           703,388          
Leasehold improvements 92,299           3,449 - 95,748 

Total Accumulated Depreciation 8,458,707      357,611        (38,974)           8,777,344       

Total Capital Assets being depreciated, net 3,904,478      642,442        (625) 4,546,295       

Capital Assets, Net 5,933,251$    1,354,001$   (1,000,678)$    6,286,574$     
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9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable at December 31, 2017 and 2016 consist of the following ($ in thousands):

2017 2016

Contract retentions 39,980$   57,104$   
Vouchers payable 23,010 42,123 
Employee benefits 25,731 16,042 
Other 37,172 61,973 
Total accounts payable 125,893$  177,242$  

10. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2017 and 2016 consist of the following ($ in thousands):

2017 2016

Operating Programs 68,838$  90,651$  
Wages and payroll taxes 45,145 44,576 
Utilities 34,018 32,930 
Capital programs 124,999 95,006 
Interest 13,918 14,694 
Other 6,571 6,280 
Total accrued liabilities 293,489$  284,137$  

11. POLLUTION REMEDIATION OBLIGATIONS

The Authority accounts for its pollution remediation obligations (“PRO”) in accordance with GASB
Statement No. 49 (“GASB 49”) Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pollution Remediation
Obligations. As a result, the Authority has recorded in the statements of net position a PRO liability
in the amount $21,899,000 and $24,872,000 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  The
Authority’s PRO is measured based on the expected costs of future activities, estimating a reasonable
range of potential outlays and multiplying these outlays by their probability of occurring.  The estimate
of the liability does not include cost components that are not yet reasonably measurable.

The Authority has separated its pollution remediation obligations into two groups:  fuel storage tanks
and oil spills, and lead based paint and asbestos remediation.
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11. POLLUTION REMEDIATION OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Fuel Storage Tanks and Oil Spills

On April 6, 2006, the Authority signed a consent order with the New York State Department of
Environmental Conservation (“DEC”), at which point the Authority became a potentially responsible
party. To comply with this consent order, the Authority is continuing a program started in 1992 to
remediate contaminated soil and to replace fuel storage tanks, as required.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the number of open active fuel oil spills on record with DEC
was 56 and 80, respectively. The spills are categorized by the Authority as either Class A spills which
are pending closure, Class B spills which require further investigation or Class C spills which have
been investigated and have a remedial plan in place. The number of open active fuel oil spills is as
follows:

Description of Oil Spills 2017 2016
Pending closure 10 14 
Require further investigation 29 34 
Have been investigated and have a remedial plan in place 17 32 
Total number of spills on record with the DEC 56 80 

In connection with petroleum bulk storage remediation, the Authority’s liability was $4,798,000 and 
$6,698,000 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, as shown below, which represents the 
remaining estimated cost to close the Class A spills, investigate the Class B spills, and remediate and 
re-investigate the Class C spills. 

Liability to Remediate Oil Spills ($ in thousands) 

Description of Oil Spills 2017 2016
Pending closure 43$     62$     
Require further investigation 1,366        1,596        
Have been investigated and have a remedial plan in place 3,389        5,040        
Total Liability to Remediate Oil Spills 4,798$   6,698$   

The Authority has estimated the remaining cost of outlays and time to remediate the Class C spills 
based on an evaluation of each oil spill. Using that data, the liability was measured using the expected 
cash flow technique. The Authority has not recognized any clean-up remediation activity liabilities 
for Class B spills since those costs are not reasonably estimable. The Authority does not expect any 
recoveries related to fuel oil spills. 
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11. POLLUTION REMEDIATION OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Lead Based Paint and Asbestos Remediation

During the course of building rehabilitation and modernization, the exposure of lead based paint or
asbestos presents a threat to the health of residents and workers.  Upon commencement of the
rehabilitation and modernization projects these hazards are identified and remediated, and the
remediation costs are expensed. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, commitments related to the
remediation of lead based paint and asbestos portions of active contracts were $17,101,000 and
$18,174,000, respectively. A portion of building rehabilitation and modernization outlays are
reimbursable from HUD through its Capital Fund Program.

The Authority’s total pollution remediation obligations for 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows
($ in thousands):

Description TOTAL Oil Spills
Asbestos
& Lead

Liability at December 31, 2015 34,800$    7,255$   27,545$    
Current year costs 54,619      2,359        52,260      
Payments made during the year (64,547)    (2,916)      (61,631)    
Liability at December 31, 2016 24,872      6,698 18,174
Current year costs 17,422      901           16,521      
Payments made during the year (20,395)    (2,801)      (17,594)    
Liability at December 31, 2017 21,899$    4,798$   17,101$    

The above liability is subject to change due to price increases or reductions, changes in technology, 
or changes in applicable laws or regulations.  The Authority classifies the total pollution remediation 
obligations as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 as follows ($ in thousands): 

Description 2017 2016
Current portion 20,101$      21,174$      
Long-term portion 1,798          3,698          
Total pollution remediation obligations 21,899$      24,872$      
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12. CLAIMS PAYABLE

General Liability - The Authority maintains a self-insurance program to provide for all claims arising
from injuries to persons other than employees.  The Authority has insurance to cover all liabilities in
excess of a self-insured retention.  From January 1, 2016 through July 31, 2016, the Authority’s
insurance coverage was $100,000,000 per occurrence and $125,000,000 in the aggregate, with a self-
insured retention of $1,000,000 per occurrence.  From August 1, 2016 through July 31, 2017, the
Authority’s insurance coverage was $100,000,000 per occurrence and $130,000,000 in the aggregate,
with a self-insured retention of $1,000,000 per occurrence.   From August 1, 2017 through December
31, 2017, the Authority’s insurance coverage was $100,000,000 per occurrence and $130,000,000 in
the aggregate with a self-insured retention of $1,000,000 per occurrence. The self-insured retention
for Employee Benefits Liability limit (a component of the General Liability program) is $500,000 per
occurrence.  In addition, contractors performing work for the Authority are required to carry liability
insurance protecting the contractor and the Authority.

The general liability program is primarily funded based upon an amount which is actuarially
determined and charged to individual developments.  In addition, a liability is established based upon
an estimate of all probable losses, including an estimate of losses incurred but not yet reported.  At
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the total undiscounted liability for such claims was $176,265,000 and
$163,678,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the liability for these claims was reported at discounted amounts of
$168,226,000 using a discount rate of 1.50 percent and $157,358,000 using a discount rate of 1.25
percent, respectively. Payments made for claims amounted to $34,083,000 and $33,413,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Workers’ Compensation – The Authority maintains a self-insurance program for workers’ compensation
claims. The workers’ compensation program is primarily funded based upon an amount which is
actuarially determined and charged to individual developments.  At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the
total undiscounted liability for such claims was $356,645,000 and $360,773,000, respectively.

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, these amounts were reported at discounted amounts of $297,444,000
using a discount rate of 2.50 percent and $307,376,000 using a discount rate of 2.25 percent,
respectively. Payments made for claims amounted to $39,176,000 and $40,361,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The Authority’s total claims payable for 2017 and 2016 are summarized as follows ($ in thousands):

Summary of Claims Payable ($ in thousands) 

Description TOTAL
General
Liability

Workers'
Comp.

Claim Reserve at December 31, 2015 453,953$   158,203$   295,750$   
Losses incurred during the year 84,555 32,568 51,987 
Losses paid during the year (73,774) (33,413) (40,361) 
Claim Reserve at December 31, 2016 464,734 157,358 307,376 
Losses incurred during the year 74,195 44,951 29,244 
Losses paid during the year (73,259) (34,083) (39,176) 
Claim Reserve at December 31, 2017 465,670$   168,226$   297,444$   
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12. CLAIMS PAYABLE (continued)

The claim reserves are reported by management at the 75 percent confidence level for 2017 and 2016.
The Authority classifies the estimated claims that will be paid out in the next year as a current liability
and the balance as a non-current liability, as shown below for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 ($ in thousands):

Total General Liability Workers' Comp.
Description 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current 82,980$      80,583$      39,781$      36,781$      43,199$      43,802$      
Non-current 382,690      384,151      128,445      120,577      254,245      263,574      
Total 465,670$    464,734$    168,226$    157,358$    297,444$    307,376$    

13. UNEARNED REVENUES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Unearned revenues and other current liabilities at December 31, 2017 and 2016 are comprised of the 
following ($ in thousands): 

2017 2016
FEMA - Superstorm Sandy 297,474$  111,956$  
Tenant security deposits 42,462 41,826 
Dormitory Authority - State of New York 28,862 42,250 
Tenant prepaid rent 21,457 20,280 
Development transactions 19,782 19,782 
Prepaid subsidy 3,124 11,770 
Other 3,313 3,467 
Total unearned revenues and other current liabilities 416,474$  251,331$  

14. LONG - TERM DEBT

HDC Loans

On September 10, 2013, the Authority entered into a Loan Agreement with New York City Housing
Development Corporation (“HDC”), borrowing approximately $701 million of bond proceeds issued
under the Capital Fund Grant Revenue Bond Program at a weighted average interest rate of 4.8%.
The face amount of the bonds consisted of $185,785,000 of Series 2013 A bonds (“Series A bonds”)
and $470,300,000 of Series 2013 B (“Series B bonds”). The Series B bonds had two sub-series: Series
2013 B-1 $348,130,000 and Series 2013 B-2 $122,170,000.  The bond premiums were $15,020,118
and $29,695,129 on the Series A bonds and Series B bonds, respectively. The proceeds of the face
amount of these bonds were loaned to the Authority by HDC.
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14. LONG-TERM DEBT

HDC Loans (continued)

The Series 2013 A bonds proceeds were issued at a weighted average rate of 4.4% and were used
together with other available funds from the prior Series 2005 A bond issuance as an advance refund
of the remaining balance of the pre-existing Series 2005 A bonds and to defease the existing debt.
The bond proceeds of the new Series 2013 A bonds were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an
escrow agent to provide for all remaining debt service payments on the Series 2005 A bonds.  The
2005 A bonds were fully paid in July 2005.  The advance refunding resulted in a difference between
the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt of $10,388,000.  This difference, a
deferred amount on refunding, is being amortized through the year 2025 using the effective-interest
method. The Authority completed the advance refunding to reduce total debt service payments over
11 years by $7.0 million and to obtain an economic gain of $2.9 million.

The Series 2013 B bond proceeds were issued with a weighted average rate of 5.0% to fund
acquisition, construction or rehabilitation, and to make capital improvement at 34 Authority
developments.  Capital improvements primarily include “building envelope” work on roofs,
brickwork, and windows, etc.  The proceeds of these bonds that have been loaned to the Authority by
HDC were placed in escrow accounts with the Trustee banks.  The capital improvements for this
program was completed and on June 7, 2017, the Authority made its final draw of the loan proceeds.

Certificates of Indebtedness

The State of New York has loaned the Authority funds to finance the construction of State-aided
developments from proceeds of State Housing Bonds.  The Authority has acknowledged its
indebtedness for such loans by issuance of Certificates of Indebtedness.  Debt service payments are
made from funds provided by the State of New York.

Mortgage Loans

As part of the Authority’s March 16, 2010 mixed-finance transaction (see Note 22), HDC issued bonds
totaling $477,455,000.  The bonds issued by HDC were comprised of seven different series as follows:
$23,590,000 2009 Series L-1, $68,000,000 2009 Series L-2, $150,000,000 2010 Series B (Bridge
Bonds), $140,000,000 2011 Series A (Bridge Bonds), $25,325,000 2010 Series A-1, $3,000,000 2010
Series A-2 (Fixed-Rate Taxable Bonds), and $67,540,000 2012 Series A (Index Floating Rate).

The bond proceeds were used to provide financing in the form of mortgage loans to LLC I and LLC
II. Of the seven different series of bonds issued as part of the mixed-finance transaction, four series
were paid in full in 2013, and three series were outstanding as of December 31, 2017.  Specifically,
2009 Series L-2, 2010 Series B, 2011 Series A, and 2012 Series A were paid in full, while the three
outstanding are 2009 Series L-1, 2010 Series A-1, and 2010 Series A-2.  In September 2013, the three
remaining loans were converted from construction to permanent loans, with principal and interest
payable monthly.
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14. LONG-TERM DEBT

Mortgage Loans (continued)

For LLC I, the proceeds from the mortgage issued in connection with the $23,590,000 2009 Series L-
1 Bonds were used to finance the acquisition of the developments.  These mortgage loans are secured
by the net operating income of the respective development’s Section 8 rental revenue.

The LLC II financing structure for rehabilitation provided private activity bond proceeds from a long-
term bond issue of $25,325,000 2010 Series A-1 Bonds.  Similarly, acquisition funds were provided
from the proceeds of the $3,000,000 2010 Series A-2 Bonds. These mortgage loans are secured by the
net operating income of the respective development’s Section 8 rental revenue.

2013 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement

In January 2013, the Authority entered into a 13-year Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with
Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) in the amount of $18,046,000 to finance an Energy
Performance Contract (“EPC”).  This financing agreement and EPC have enabled the Authority to
upgrade boilers, instantaneous water heaters, apartment temperature sensors, and upgrade
computerized heating automated systems at six developments, and upgrade apartment convectors at
one of these six developments. The Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with BAPCC will mature
in 2026. This EPC plan provides HUD-sponsored EPC funding for projects at these six developments,
which were previously earmarked to be funded with Federal Capital subsidies, thereby enabling the
Authority to use its Federal Capital funds for other critical capital improvements pursuant to the
Authority’s Five-Year Capital Plan.

2016 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement

In December 2016, the Authority entered into a 20-year Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with
Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) in the amount of $51,548,000 to finance an Energy
Performance Contract (“EPC”).  This financing agreement and EPC will enable the Authority to
upgrade common area and apartment lighting at sixteen (16) developments and to replace a boiler
plant and upgrade a comprehensive heating system at one development.  The Equipment
Lease/Purchase Agreement with BAPCC will mature in June 2036.  This EPC plan provides HUD-
sponsored EPC funding at these sixteen developments, thereby enabling the Authority to use its
Federal Capital funds for other capital improvements pursuant to the Authority’s Five-Year Capital
Plan.
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14. LONG - TERM DEBT (continued)

2016 Unsecured Line of Credit / Loan Agreement)

In December 2016, the Authority entered into a Loan Agreement with the NY Green Bank, a division 
of New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, providing the Authority with an $11 
million unsecured line of credit. The term of the loan was 12 months, with cumulative draws totaling 
approximately $11 million, exclusive of interest and fees.  The proceeds of this loan were used to 
partially finance energy efficiency upgrades at twenty-three (23) developments associated with a HUD 
approved EPC. This financing agreement enabled the Authority to complete lighting installations that 
reduce the Authority’s electricity demand in the Brooklyn and Queens boroughs of New York.   The 
installation and other associated work enabled the Authority to receive incentive funds from Con 
Edison in an amount ranging from $5.5 million up to $8 million in an ongoing ConEd demand 
reduction program. This loan was paid off prior to maturity in December 2017. 

2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement for Sandy-A 

In December 2017, the Authority entered into a 20-year Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with 
Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) in the amount of $43,000,000 to finance an Energy 
Performance Contract (“EPC”).  This financing agreement and EPC will enable the Authority to 
upgrade common area and apartment lighting at eighteen (18) developments, heating controls at 17 
developments and ventilation repairs at 9 developments.  The Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement 
with BAPCC will mature in December 2037. This EPC plan provides HUD-sponsored EPC funding 
at these 18 developments, thereby enabling the Authority to use its Federal Capital funds for other 
capital improvements pursuant to the Authority’s Five-Year Capital Plan. 

2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement for Brooklyn Queens Demand Management 
(“BQDM”) 

In December 2017, the Authority entered into a 20-year Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with 
Banc of America Public Capital Corp (“BAPCC”) in the amount of $60,133,000 to finance an Energy 
Performance Contract (“EPC”).  This financing agreement and EPC will enable the Authority to 
upgrade common area and apartment lighting, and apartment heating controls at twenty-three (23) 
developments.   The Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement with BAPCC will mature in December 
2037.  This EPC plan provides HUD-sponsored EPC funding at these developments, thereby enabling 
the Authority to use its Federal Capital funds for other capital improvements pursuant to the 
Authority’s Five-Year Capital Plan. 
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14. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

The tables that follow provide information about the change in long term debt over the past two years for 
the Authority and its blended component units ($ in thousands):  

Payments & Due Within
Description of Long Term Debt Jan. 1, 2017 Proceeds Amortization Dec. 31, 2017 One Year

Bonds:

State Guaranteed Certificates of Indebtedness Outstanding (State Program)
three issues remaining bearing interest of 3.5% to 3.75% per annum
maturing annually through July 2024. 10,789$   - (2,225)$    8,564$   1,462$   

State Guaranteed Certificates of Indebtedness Outstanding (incorporated
into the Federal Housing Program), three issues remaining bearing interest
of 3.5% to 4.75% per annum, maturing annually through July 2024. 1,642 - (243) 1,399 244 

Loans Funded by:

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 A ($185,785,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 3.0% to 5.0% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2025. 150,555 - (13,740) 136,815 14,415 \

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 B-1 ($348,130,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 5.0% to 5.25% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2033. 310,160 - (16,625) 293,535 17,465 

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 B-2 ($122,170,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 5.0% to 5.25% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2032. 122,170 - - 122,170 - 

Loan Payable - 2013 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement; 
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($18,045,580)
at an interest rate of 1.98% per annum, maturing January 19, 2026. 15,140 - (1,328) 13,812 1,392 

Loan Payable - 2016 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement; 
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($51,548,356)
at an interest rate of 3.27% per annum, maturing June 28, 2036. 51,548 1,699 - 53,247 730 

Loan Payable - 2016 Multi-draw term loan facility; 
with NY Green Bank ($11,000,000) at rate of 3.5% per annum on the used portion
and at 0.50% per annum on the unused portion, paid off on December 18, 2017. 94 10,906            (11,000) - - - 

Loan Payable - 2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement; (BQDM); 
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($60,132,977.75)
at an interest rate of 3.6178% per annum, maturing December 15, 2037. - 60,133 - 60,133 - 

Loan Payable - 2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement; (SANDY A);
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($43,000,000)
at an interest rate of 3.6178% per annum, maturing December 22, 2037. - 43,000 - 43,000 - 

HDC 2009 Series L-1 Bonds ($23,590,000);
 Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 6.3% per annum,
 maturing November 2043; secured by mortgage. 22,634 - (336) 22,298 358 

HDC 2010 Series A-1 Bonds ($25,325,000);
Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 5.1% per annum,
maturing November 2041; secured by mortgage. 23,883 - (494) 23,389 520 

HDC 2010 Series A-2 Bonds ($3,000,000);
Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 5.1% per annum,
maturing May 2041; secured by mortgage. 2,829 - (59) 2,770 61 

Long Term Debt (before Premium) 711,444 115,738          (46,050) 781,132 36,647 
Add Premium on HDC Revenue Bond Loan Agreements 23,898 - (4,863) 19,035 - 

TOTAL LONG TERM DEBT 735,342$    115,738$    (50,913)$     800,167$     36,647$    \
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Payments & Due Within
Description of Long Term Debt Jan. 1, 2016 Proceeds Amortization Dec. 31, 2016 One Year

Bonds:

State Guaranteed Certificates of Indebtedness Outstanding (State Program)
four issues remaining bearing interest of 3.5% to 3.875% per annum
maturing annually through July 2024. 13,014$     -$  (2,225)$    10,789$    2,225$     1

State Guaranteed Certificates of Indebtedness Outstanding (incorporated
into the Federal Housing Program), three issues remaining bearing interest
of 3.5% to 4.75% per annum, maturing annually through July 2024. 1,886 - (244) 1,642 244 

Loans Funded by:

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 A ($185,785,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 3.0% to 5.0% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2025. 163,790 - (13,235) 150,555 13,740 \

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 B-1 ($348,130,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 5.0% to 5.25% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2033. 325,985 - (15,825) 310,160 16,625 

HDC Capital Fund Program Revenue Bonds, Series 2013 B-2 ($122,170,000);
Loan Agreement with an interest rate of 5.0% to 5.25% per annum,
maturing annually through July 2032. 122,170 - - 122,170 - 

Loan Payable - 2013 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement;
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($18,045,580)
at an interest rate of 1.98% per annum, maturing January 19, 2026. 16,408 - (1,268) 15,140 1,329 

Loan Payable - 2016 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement;
with BAPCC for Energy Performance Contract ($51,548,356)
at an interest rate of 3.27% per annum, maturing June 28, 2036. - 51,548 - 51,548 - 

Loan Payable - 2016 multi-draw term loan facility;
 with NY Green Bank ($11,000,000) at rate of 3.5% per annum on the used portion

and at 0.50% per annum on the unused portion, maturing December 31, 2017. - 94 94 94 

HDC 2009 Series L-1 Bonds ($23,590,000);
 Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 6.3% per annum,
 maturing November 2043; secured by mortgage. 22,949 - (315) 22,634 336 

HDC 2010 Series A-1 Bonds ($25,325,000);
Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 5.1% per annum,
maturing November 2041; secured by mortgage. 24,352 - (469) 23,883 494 

HDC 2010 Series A-2 Bonds ($3,000,000);
Permanent Mortgage Loan at an interest rate of 5.1% per annum,
maturing May 2041; secured by mortgage. 2,885 - (56) 2,829 58 

Long Term Debt (before Premium) 693,439 51,642          (33,637) 711,444 35,145 

Add Premium on HDC Revenue Bond Loan Agreements 29,603 - (5,705) 23,898 - 

TOTAL LONG TERM DEBT 723,042$   51,642$    (39,342)$     735,342$     35,145$   
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Pledged Revenue

CFFP Series 2013A & B Bonds - As security for the Series 2013 A, B-1, and B-2 CFFP Bonds which
were issued by HDC, the Authority pledged future HUD Capital Fund Program grant revenue to
service the bond debt (thereby satisfying the Authority’s loans payable to HDC).  With HUD’s
approval, the Authority pledged as sole security for the bonds, a portion of its annual appropriation
from HUD. The bonds are payable with pledged revenue through 2033.  The Authority has committed
to appropriate capital contributions of the Capital Fund Program in amounts sufficient to cover the
scheduled principal and interest requirements of the debt.  Total principal and interest paid for 2017
and 2016, by the Authority was $59,529,000 and $59,517,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2017,
total principal and interest remaining on the combined debt for Series 2013 A, B-1, and B-2 are
$552,520,000 and $234,233,000, respectively, with annual debt service ranging from $59,544,000 in
the coming year 2018 to $38,792,000 in the final year 2033.

2013 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement - As security for the Equipment Lease/Purchase
Agreement with Banc of America Public Capital Corp, the Authority pledged HUD Operating Subsidy
revenue to service the loan debt. With HUD’s approval, the Authority pledged as security, a portion
of its annual appropriation from HUD that consists of HUD Financial Incentive Payments. The loan
is payable with pledged revenue through 2026.  The Authority has committed to appropriate HUD
Operating Subsidy revenue in amounts sufficient to cover the scheduled principal and interest
requirements of the debt.  Total principal and interest paid for 2017 and 2016, by the Authority was
$1,622,000 and $1,586,000 respectively. As of December 31, 2017, total principal and interest
remaining on the Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement are $13,812,000 and $1,285,000, with annual
debt service ranging from $1,659,000 in the coming year 2018 to $853,000 in the final year 2026.

2016 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement - As security for the Equipment Lease/Purchase
Agreement with Banc of America Public Capital Corp, the Authority pledged HUD Operating Subsidy
revenue to service the loan debt. With HUD’s approval, the Authority pledged as security, a portion
of its annual appropriation from HUD that consists of HUD Financial Incentive Payments. The loan
is payable with pledged revenue through 2036.  The Authority has committed to appropriate HUD
Operating Subsidy revenue in amounts sufficient to cover the scheduled principal and interest
requirements of the debt.  As of December 31, 2017, total principal and interest remaining on the
Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement are $53,248,000 and $20,193,000, with annual debt service
payments ranging from $1,614,000 in the coming year 2018 to $2,439,000 in the final year 2036.
During the construction period and prior to beginning debt service payments, the amortized interest
will be capitalized. In 2017, the Authority capitalized $1,699,000 in interest on this loan.
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2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement for Sandy A - As security for the Equipment
Lease/Purchase Agreement with Banc of America Public Capital Corp, the Authority pledged HUD
Operating Subsidy revenue to service the loan debt. With HUD’s approval, the Authority pledged as
security, a portion of its annual appropriation from HUD that consists of HUD Financial Incentive
Payments. The loan is payable with pledged revenue through 2037.  The Authority has committed to
appropriate HUD Operating Subsidy revenue in amounts sufficient to cover the scheduled principal
and interest requirements of the debt.  As of December 31, 2017, total principal and interest remaining
on the Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement are $43,000,000 and $21,603,000, with no annual debt
service payments due during the coming year 2018 to $4,271,000 in the final year 2037. Debt service
payments will begin in June 2020. During the construction period and prior to beginning debt service
payments, the amortized interest will be capitalized.

2017 Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement for BQDM - As security for the Equipment
Lease/Purchase Agreement with Banc of America Public Capital Corp, the Authority pledged HUD
Operating Subsidy revenue to service the loan debt. With HUD’s approval, the Authority pledged as
security, a portion of its annual appropriation from HUD that consists of HUD Financial Incentive
Payments. The loan is payable with pledged revenue through 2037.  The Authority has committed to
appropriate HUD Operating Subsidy revenue in amounts sufficient to cover the scheduled principal
and interest requirements of the debt.  As of December 31, 2017, total principal and interest remaining
on the Equipment Lease/Purchase Agreement are $60,133,000 and $30,063,000, with no annual debt
service payments due during the coming year 2018 to $5,640,000 in the final year 2037. Debt service
payments will begin in June 2020. During the construction period and prior to beginning debt service
payments, the amortized interest will be capitalized.

Combined Debt of the Authority

Future principal and interest payments of all the Authority’s outstanding long-term debt (excluding
amortized bond premium) at December 31, 2017 are payable as follows ($ in thousands):

Years Principal Interest Total

Current portion 2018 36,647$   36,449$   73,096$   

Long-term portion:
2019 30,667        34,885        65,552           
2020 44,251        33,115        77,366           
2021 46,674        31,066        77,740           
2022 49,036        28,943        77,979           

2023-2027 231,784      110,028      341,812         
2028-2032 218,226      59,796        278,022         
2033-2037 108,934      13,589        122,523         
2038-2042 13,633        2,261          15,894           

2043 1,280          34 1,314 
Total long-term portion 744,485      313,717      1,058,202      

Total payments 781,132$    350,166$    1,131,298$    

Interest rates on outstanding debt range from 1.98 percent to 6.30 percent.  During 2017 and 2016, 
principal repayments totaled $46,050,000 and $33,637,000, respectively. 
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15. ACCRUED LEAVE TIME

Accumulated unpaid leave time is accrued at estimated amounts of future benefits attributable to
services already rendered.  The liability for compensated absences is calculated for all active
employees and is based upon the leave time policy of the Authority, of which two of the major policy
factors are retirement eligibility requirements and days eligible for payment.

The liability is comprised of three components: (1) liability for unused leave time (days and hours),
(2) liability for bonus retirement leave for employees currently eligible to retire, and (3) liability for
bonus retirement leave for employees not currently eligible to retire.

The liability for those employees who are retirement eligible is classified as a current liability, while 
the liability of those employees not currently eligible to retire is classified as a long-term liability.    

The changes in accrued leave time for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

Summary of Accrued Leave Time ($ in thousands) 

Description of 
Liability Dec. 31, 2015 Increases Decreases Dec. 31, 2016 Increases Decreases Dec. 31, 2017

Unused leave time 95,012$   12,614$   (11,421)$   96,205$   10,445$   (13,478)$   93,172$    
Bonus:

 Retirement eligible 34,134        6,227        (5,555)        34,806        7,062        (5,845)        36,023       
 Not retirement eligible 46,162        6,494        (6,070)        46,586        5,610        (6,851)        45,345       
 Total Bonus 80,296        12,721      (11,625)      81,392        12,672      (12,696)      81,368       

Subtotal 175,308      25,335      (23,046)      177,597      23,117      (26,174)      174,540     
Employer FICA 13,367        1,859        (1,763)        13,463        1,891        (2,002)        13,352       
Leave Time Liability 188,675$  27,194$  (24,809)$  191,060$  25,008$  (28,176)$  187,892$  

The current and long-term portions of leave time liability as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as 
follows ($ in thousands): 

Description of Liability 2017 2016
Current portion 75,770$      73,962$      
Long-term portion 112,122      117,098      
Total accrued leave time 187,892$    191,060$    

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Authority does not have its own Deferred Compensation Plan. The Authority’s employees
participate in The City of New York Deferred Compensation Plan, which offers a 457 Plan, a 401(k)
Plan, and a Roth 401(k) Plan, through payroll deductions.  Employees may choose to make pre-tax
contributions and/or Roth (after-tax) contributions in the 457 Plan.  The plan allows employees to
save regularly, in certain cases, with before-tax dollars while deferring federal, state and local income
taxes. The pre-tax contributions will remain tax deferred until withdrawn through plan benefit
payments.
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Pension Plan 

The Authority follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68 Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. This Statement establishes financial 
reporting standards for state and local governments for pensions (see Note 1). 

Plan Description.  Authority employees are members of the New York City Employees’ Retirement 
System, a multiple employer, cost-sharing, public employee retirement system.  NYCERS provides 
retirement, as well as death and disability benefits. The NYCERS plan combines the features of a 
defined benefit pension plan with those of a defined contribution pension plan, but is considered a 
defined benefit plan for financial reporting purposes.  NYCERS administers the New York City 
Employees Retirement System qualified pension plan.  

NYCERS issues a stand-alone financial report, which is included in The City of New York 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as a pension trust fund.  This financial report may be 
obtained from the New York City Employees’ Retirement System, 335 Adams Street, Suite 2300, 
Brooklyn, N.Y. 11201-3724, or from the website of NYCERS at http://nycers.org.     

All persons holding permanent civil service positions in the competitive or labor class are required to 
become members of the system six months after their date of appointment, but may voluntarily elect 
to join the system prior to their mandated membership date.  All other eligible employees have the 
option of joining the system upon appointment or anytime thereafter.  

Tier 1 - All members who joined prior to July 1, 1973. 

Tier 2 - All members who joined on or after July 1, 1973 and before July 27, 1976. 

Tier 3 - Only certain members who joined on or after July 27, 1976 and prior to April 1, 2012. 

Tier 4 - All members (with certain member exceptions) who joined on or after July 27, 1976 but prior 
to April 1, 2012.  Members who joined on or after July 27, 1976 but prior to September 1, 1983 retain 
all rights and benefits of Tier 3 membership. 

Tier 6 – Members who joined on or after April 1, 2012. 

The 63/10 Retirement Plan (“Tier 6 Basic Plan”), changed the vesting period from five years of 
credited service to ten years of credited service. 

NYCERS provides three main types of retirement benefits: Service Retirements, Ordinary Disability 
Retirements, which are non-job-related disabilities, and Accident Disability Retirements, which are 
job-related disabilities, to participants generally based on salary, length of service, and member Tiers. 
The Service Retirement benefits provided to Tier 1 participants fall into four categories according to 
the level of benefits provided and the years of service required.  Three of the four categories provide 
annual benefits of 50% to 55% of final salary after 20 or 25 years of service, with additional benefits 
equal to a specified percentage per year of service, currently 1.2% to 1.7%, of final salary.  The fourth 
category has no minimum service requirement and instead provides an annual benefit for each year of 
service equal to a specified percentage, currently 0.7% to 1.53%, of final salary. 

http://nycers.org/
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Pension Plan (continued) 

Funding Policy. Benefit and contribution provisions, which are contingent upon the time at which the 
employee last entered qualifying service, salary, and length of credited service, are established by 
State law and may be amended only by the State Legislature. The plan has contributory and non-
contributory requirements, with retirement age of 55 or older depending upon when an employee last 
entered qualifying service, except for employees in physically taxing titles and those who can retire 
at age 50 with proper service.   

Employees entering qualifying service on or before June 30, 1976 are enrolled in a non-contributory 
plan.  Employees entering qualifying service after June 30, 1976, but before June 29, 1995, are 
enrolled in a plan which required a 3 percent contribution of their salary.  This 3 percent required 
contribution was eliminated for employees who reached 10 years of service, effective October 1, 2000.  
Employees entering qualifying service after June 28, 1995 are enrolled in a plan which requires a 4.85 
percent contribution of their salary, or a 6.83 percent contribution for physically taxing positions.  

Under the Tier 6 Basic Plan, employees who joined NYCERS between April 1, 2012 and March 31, 
2013 are required to contribute 3 percent of gross wages. On April 1, 2013 a new contribution structure 
took effect which ranges from 3 percent to 6 percent dependent upon annual wages earned during the 
“plan year”. The Authority’s contributions for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were 
$165,240,117 and $174,206,763 respectively.  The Authority’s contractually required contributions 
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 as a percentage of covered payroll were 21.99% and 
22.86%, respectively. 
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Net Pension Liability. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority reported a liability of 
$1,032,725,000 and $1,214,112,000, respectively, for its proportionate share of NYCERS’s net pension 
liability, as calculated by the New York City Office of the Actuary.  The net pension liability was measured 
as of June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2015 and June 30, 2014, respectively.  The 
Authority’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Authority’s long-term 
share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined.  At June 30, 2017 and 2016 the Authority’s proportion of net pension 
liability was 4.973% and 4.997%, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 
Authority recognized pension expense of $126,621,000 and $154,387,000, respectively.   At December 
31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources ($ in thousands): 

Change of assumptions 50,908$   

Difference between expected 
and actual experience 27,555$   

Changes in proportion and 
differences between 
contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date

1,299 

Net difference between 
projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments

42,197 

Total contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 82,494 

Changes in proportion and 
differences between 
contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 10,941 

Total 134,701$  80,693$  

Net difference between 
projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments 65,678$   

Difference between expected 
and actual experience 34,462$   

Change of assumptions 89,616 

Changes in proportion and 
differences between 
contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date

4,809 

Total contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 82,746 

Changes in proportion and 
differences between 
contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 11,611 

Total 242,849$  46,073$  

of Resources - 2016 of Resources - 2016

Deferred Outflows
of Resources - 2017

Deferred Inflows
of Resources - 2017

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
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Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Authority contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date of $82,494,000 will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 
year ended December 31, 2018.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows ($ in thousands): 

Year Total 
2018 (10,232)$  
2019 25,383 
2020 (7,679) 
2021 (34,126) 
2022 (1,832) 

Total (28,486)$   

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. The total pension liability in the June 30, 2015 and June 30, 
2014 actuarial valuations used, respectively, by the Authority in 2017 and in 2016 were both 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 

Investment Rate of Return 7% per annum, net of investment expenses

Salary Increases 3.0% per annum general, merit and promotion increases 
plus assumed general wage increases

Cost of Living Adjustments 1.5% and 2.5%  per annum for certain tiers

In October 2015 the independent actuarial auditor, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company (“GRS”), 
issued a report on their NYC Charter-mandated actuarial experience studies for the four-year and ten-
year periods ended June 30, 2013 (the GRS Report). 

Based, in part on the GRS Report, on published studies of mortality improvement, and on input from 
the City’s outside consultants, the Actuary proposed, and the Boards of Trustees of the NYCERS 
adopted, new post-retirement mortality tables for use in determining employer contributions 
beginning in Fiscal Year 2016.  The new tables of post-retirement mortality are based primarily on 
the experience of the NYCERS (the Base Tables) and the application of Mortality Improvement 
Scale MP-2015, published by the Society of Actuaries in October 2015 (the Valuation Tables).  Scale 
MP-2015 replaced Mortality Improvement Scale AA. 

In addition, beginning in Fiscal Year 2016, the Actuary revised the Actuarial Asset Valuation Method 
to constrain the Actuarial Asset Value to be within a 20% corridor of the Market Value of Assets. 

Pursuant to Section 96 of the New York City Charter, studies of the actuarial assumptions used to 
value liabilities of the five actuarially-funded New York City Retirement Systems (“NYCRS”) are 
conducted every two years. 
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Pension Plan (continued) 

Expected Rate of Return on Investments.  The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was determined using a building block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected 
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 
developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected 
rate of return by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and by adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic 
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 

Target 
Asset 

Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected Real Rates 

of Return
U.S. Public Market Equities 29.00% 5.70%
International Public Market Equities 13.00% 6.10%
Emerging Public Market Equities 7.00% 7.60%
Private Market Equities 7.00% 8.10%
Fixed Income 33.00% 3.00%
Alternatives (Real Assets, Hedge Funds) 11.00% 4.70%
Total 100.00%

The City has determined its long-term expected rate of return on investments to be 7%.  This is based 
upon an expected real rate of return ranging from 5.0% to 5.2% and a long-term Consumer Price 
Inflation assumption of 2.5% per year, which is reduced by investment related expenses. 

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7% as of June 30, 
2017 and June 30, 2016.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that employer contributions will be made based on rates determined by the Actuary.  Based on those 
assumptions, the NYCERS fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current active and non-active NYCERS members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on NYCERS investments was applied to all periods of projected payments to 
determine the total pension liability.  

The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as of December 
31, 2017 and 2016, calculated using the discount rate of 7%, as well as what the Authority’s 
proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
is one-percentage point lower (6%) or one-percentage point higher (8%) than the current rate ($ in 
thousands): 

NYCHA's proportionate share 
of the net pension liability 1% decrease (6%) Discount rate (7%) 1% increase (8%)

2017 1,492,550$   1,032,725$   628,766$   
2016 1,664,672$   1,214,112$   836,741$   

The fiduciary net position and additions to and deductions from the fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as reported by NYCERS.  For this purpose, benefits and refunds are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan; investments are reported 
at fair value. 
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Other Postemployment Benefits 

The Authority follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 75 (“GASB 75”), Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which was implemented in 
2017 (see Note 2).  GASB 75 replaces the requirements of Statement No. 45, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, 
and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employee Plans. 

Plan Description.  The Authority is a component unit of The City and a member of the New York 
City Health Benefits Program.  The New York City Health Benefits Program (the “Plan”), 
administered by the City of New York, is a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan which 
provides OPEB to eligible retirees and beneficiaries. Retirees are eligible to participate if they have at 
least 10 years of credited service as a member of the NYCRS (5 years of credited service if employed 
on or before December 31, 2001), 15 years of service if a member of TRS or BERS, or receives a 
pension check from NYCERS.  OPEB includes health insurance, Medicare Part B reimbursements, 
and welfare fund contributions.  

Funding Policy. The Administrative Code of The City of New York (“ACNY”) defines OPEB to 
include Health Insurance and Medicare Part B reimbursements; Welfare Benefits stem from the 
Authority’s many collective bargaining agreements.  The Authority is not required by law or 
contractual agreement to provide funding for OPEB other than the pay-as-you go amount necessary 
to provide current benefits to retirees and eligible beneficiaries/dependents. For the calendar years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority paid $69.0 million and $74.7 million, respectively, 
to the Plan.  Based on current practice, (the Substantive Plan which is derived from ACNY), the 
Authority pays the full cost of basic coverage for non-Medicare-eligible/Medicare-eligible retiree 
participants.  The costs of these benchmark plans are reflected in the annual June 30th actuarial 
valuations by using age-adjusted premium amounts.  Plan retiree participants who opt for other basic 
or enhanced coverage must contribute 100% of the incremental costs above the premiums for the 
benchmark plans.  The Authority also reimburses covered employees 100% of the Medicare Part B 
premium rate applicable to a given year.  The Authority pays per capita contributions to the welfare 
funds the amounts of which are based on negotiated contract provisions. There is no retiree 
contribution to the welfare funds. 

Census Data.  The following table presents the NYCHA census data used in the June 30, 2016 and 
June 30, 2015 OPEB valuations which were used to measure the Total OPEB Liability at December 
31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. 

Number of Participants
Status June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015

Active 9,941 10,368 
Inactives 1,023 997 
Deferred Vested 611 653 
Retired 8,789 8,720 
Total 20,364        20,738        
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Total OPEB Liability.  The Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method used in the current OPEB actuarial 
valuation is unchanged from the prior actuarial valuation.  

Under this method, the Actuarial Present Value (“APV”) of Benefits (“APVB”) of each individual 
included in the valuation is allocated on a level basis over the earnings of the individual between entry 
age and assumed exit age(s). The employer portion of this APVB allocated to a valuation year is the 
Employer Normal Cost.  The portion of this APVB not provided for at a valuation date by the APV 
of Future Employer Normal Costs is the Total OPEB Liability. 

Increases (decreases) in liabilities due to benefit changes, actuarial assumption changes and /or 
actuarial method changes are also explicitly identified and amortized in the annual expense. 

Changes in Total OPEB Liability. Changes in the Authority’s Total OPEB Liability for the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 are as follows ($ in thousands)  

 Total OPEB Liability
Description 2017 2016
Total OPEB Liability at the Beginning of theYear 2,484,343$  2,545,507$  
Changes for the Year:

 Service Cost 99,842 129,183 
 Interest 86,759 84,197 
 Differences between Expected and Actual Experience (68,103) - 
 Change in Assumptions 42,001 (186,804) 
 Contributions - Employer (68,963) (74,740) 
 Implicit Rate Subsidy (13,000) (13,000) 
 Net Changes 78,536 (61,164) 

Total OPEB Liability at the End of theYear 2,562,879$  2,484,343$  *

* Amount restated (see Note 2)
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Sensitivity Analysis.  The following presents the Total OPEB Liability of the Authority, as well as 
what the Authority’s Total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the discount rates of 3.16% and 3.71%
used to measure the Total OPEB Liability at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
($ in thousands):

1% decrease 
(2.16%)

Discount rate 
(3.16%) 2017

1% increase 
(4.16%)

2,967,304$    2,562,879$    2,237,092$    
1% decrease 

(2.71%)
Discount rate 
(3.71%) 2016

1% increase 
(4.71%)

2,849,744$    2,484,343$    2,148,884$    

The following presents the total OPEB Liability of the Authority, as well as what the Authority’s total 
OPEB Liability would be if it were calculated using health care cost trend rates that are 1-percentage- 
point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates ($ in thousands): 

1% decrease
Current 

healthcare cost 
trend rates 

1% increase

2017 2017 2017
2,137,623$    2,562,879$   3,158,334$    
2016 2016 2016
2,053,337$    2,484,343$   3,033,205$    

OPEB Expense.  The OPEB expense recognized by the Authority for the years ended December 31, 
2017 and 2016 are $136,767,000 and $168,061,000, respectively.  
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources.  Deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources by source reported by the Authority at December 31, 2017 and 
December 31, 2016, respectively, are as follows ($ in thousands): 

Difference between expected 
and actual experience -$   

Difference between expected 
and actual experience 56,321$   

Changes in assumptions 34,735 Changes in assumptions 122,166 

Total 34,735$   178,487$   

Changes in assumptions -$  Changes in assumptions 154,485$   

Total -$  154,485$   

of Resources - 2016 of Resources - 2016

Deferred Outflows
of Resources - 2017

Deferred Inflows
of Resources - 2017

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

Amounts reported as Deferred Outflows of Resources of $34,735,000 and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources of $178,487,000 related to OPEB as of December 31, 2017 will be recognized in OPEB 
Expense as follows ($ in thousands): 

Year Total 
2018 (36,835)$   
2019 (36,835) 
2020 (36,835) 
2021 (29,725) 
2022 (3,522) 

Total (143,752)$  
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Funding Status and Funding Progress. As of December 31, 2017, the most recent roll-forward 
actuarial valuation date, the Plan was not funded. The total OPEB liability for benefits was 
$2,562,879,000, all of which is unfunded. There were no assets accumulated in a trust.  Actuarial 
valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  The determined actuarial valuations 
of OPEB incorporated the use of demographic and salary increase assumptions among others as 
reflected below.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status and the annual expense of the 
Authority are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and 
new estimates are made about the future.  The schedule of changes in the net OPEB liability and 
related ratios shown in the RSI section immediately following the notes to financial statements 
presents GASB Statement No. 75 (replacing GASB 45) results of OPEB valuations for Fiscal Years 
2017 and 2016. 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  The actuarial assumptions used in the 2017 and the 2016 OPEB 
valuations are a combination of those used in the NYCERS pension actuarial valuations and those 
specific to the OPEB valuations. 

These assumptions are generally unchanged from the previous valuation except as noted below.  The 
NYCERS pension assumptions are provided in the five “Silver Books” available on the Reports page 
of the OA website (www.nyc.gov/actuary). 

The probability of retirement set out in each of the Silver books is assumed to be 100% at either age 
63 or 70, depending upon the program of benefits for the individual employee.  For the OPEB 
valuation, 100% of the individuals remaining in service at these ages are assumed to either retire with 
a benefit or to terminate employment without a benefit, depending upon whether they have attained 
the requisite service. 

For the 2016 OPEB and pension valuations, new tables of postretirement mortality were proposed by 
the Actuary and adopted by each of the NYCERS Boards during Fiscal Year 2016.  These tables were 
based primarily on the experience of each system and the application of Mortality Improvement Scale 
MP-2015 published by the Society of Actuaries in October 2015.  Scale MP-2015 applied on a 
generational basis replaced Mortality Improvement Scale AA which was applied on a static projection 
basis.   

http://www.nyc.gov/actuary
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

The OPEB-specific actuarial assumptions primarily used in the June 30, 2017 and 2016 OPEB 
actuarial valuations of the Plan are as follows:  

Valuation Date         June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 

Measurement Date December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016     

Discount Rate 3.16%(1) per annum for the December 31, 2017 measurement date 
3.71%(1) per annum for the December 31, 2016 measurement date 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age calculated on an individual basis with the Actuarial Value 
of Projected Benefits allocated on a level basis over earnings from 
hire through age of exit. 

Per-Capita Claims Costs EBCBS and GHI plans are insured via a Minimum Premium 
arrangement while the HIP and many of the HMOs are community 
rated.  Costs reflect age adjusted premiums for all plans.  HIP HMO 
and GHI/EBCBS non-Medicare premiums have been adjusted for 
Health Savings Agreement changes. 

Age adjustment based on assumed age distribution of covered 
population used for non-Medicare retirees and HIP and Other HMO 
Medicare retirees.  

Age adjustment based on actual age distribution of the GHI/EBCBS 
Medicare covered population.  

All reported premiums assumed to include administrative costs.  

(1) As required under GASB 75 the discount rates are based on the
S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Index, since there is no
pre-funding assumed for this plan.
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

 Initial monthly premium rates used in the valuation are as follows:             

Monthly Rates Monthly Rates
Plan 2017 2016

HIP HMO

   Non-Medicare

Single 600.18$                 (A) 603.02$            (A)

Family 1,470.45                (A) 1,477.41           (A)

   Medicare 160.83                   (A) 160.05              (A)

GHI/EBCBS:

   Non-Medicare

Single 567.48$                 (A) 524.44$            (A)

Family 1,487.47                (A) 1,376.15           (A)

   Medicare 168.35                   160.75              

Others:

   Non-Medicare Single 1,030.56$              (B) 923.23$            (B)

   Non-Medicare Family 2,226.45                (B) 2,010.43           (B)

   Medicare Single 276.18                   (B) 245.19              (B)

   Medicare Family 546.28                   (B) 501.71              (B)

(A) For the 2017 valuation, HIP HMO premiums are decreased by 5.10% 

       and GHI/EBCBS Pre-Medicare premiums are decreased by 0.82% to reflect

       2018 Health Savings agreement changes announced during 2017.

       For the 2016 valuation, GHI/EBCBS Pre-Medicare premiums decreased by

       2.48% to reflect 2016 Health Savings agreement changes.

(B) Other HMO premiums represent the total premium for medical (not

       prescription) coverage including retiree contributions.
 

Welfare Funds The Welfare Fund Contribution reported as of the valuation date, June 30, 

2016 and June 30, 2015, respectively, (including any reported retroactive 

amounts) was used as the per capita cost for valuation purposes. 

 The calculations reflect an additional one time $100 contribution for Fiscal 

Year 2017 in July 2016 and for Fiscal Year 2016 in July 2015.  Projected 

contributions reflect $25 increases at July 1, 2015, July 1, 2016 and July 

1, 2017.  

 Reported annual contribution amounts for the last two years are shown in 

the Fiscal Year 2017 GASB 74/75 report in Appendix B, Tables 2a to 2e.  

Welfare Fund Rates are based on actual reported Union Welfare Fund code 

for current retirees.  Weighted average annual contribution rates used for 

future retirees, based on Welfare Fund enrollment of recent retirees, are 

shown in the following table.  

Annual Rate

2017 2016

NYCERS 1,743$              1,692$              

BERS 1,713                1,677                
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

       Medicare Part B Premiums 

Monthly
Calendar Year Premium
2013-15 104.90$    
2016 109.97      
2017 113.63      *

* Reflected only in the FY 2017 valuation

Medicare Part B Premium reimbursement amounts have been 
updated to reflect actual premium rates announced for calendar years 
through 2017.  Due to no cost-of living adjustment in Social Security 
benefits for Calendar Year 2016, and a minimal cost-of living 
increase for Calendar Year 2017, most Medicare Part B participants 
will not be charged the Medicare Part B premium originally projected 
or ultimately announced for those years. Thus, the valuation uses a 
blended estimate as a better representation of future Part B premium 
costs.    

For the 2017 OPEB valuation the annual premium used was 
$1,341.60, which is equal to: 

• 70% of the basic $104.90 monthly hold-harmless amount,
assuming that there would be no claims made for the slight
increase in Part B premiums for continuing retirees, and

• 30% of the announced premiums (6 months at $121.80 for
Calendar Year 2016 and 6 months at $134.00 for Calendar
Year 2017), representing the proportion of the Medicare
population that will pay the announced amount.

For the OPEB actuarial valuation the annual premium used of 
$1,289.22 equals six months of the Calendar Year 2015 premium plus 
six months of: 

• 70% of the Calendar Year 2015 monthly premium (i.e.
$104.90), representing the approximate percentage of the
overall U.S. Medicare population that will pay the frozen
amount, and

• 30% of the announced Calendar Year 2016 monthly premium
(i.e., $121.80), representing the approximate percentage of
the overall U.S. Medicare population that will pay the
Calendar Year 2016 amount.
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Medicare Part B Prem. (cont.) 

Overall Medicare Part B Premium amounts are assumed to increase 
by the following percentages to reflect the income-related increases 
in Medicare Part B Premiums for high income individuals.   

Income-Related Part B Increase
Fiscal Year 2017 2016
2016 N/A 3.9%
2017 4.0% 4.0%
2018 4.5% 4.5%
2019 5.0% 5.0%
2020 5.2% 5.2%
2021 5.3% 5.3%
2022 5.4% 5.4%
2023 5.5% 5.5%
2024 5.6% 5.6%
2025 5.8% 5.8%
2026 5.9% 5.9%
2027 and later 6.0% 6.0%

Medicare Part B  
Reimbursement Assumption   

90% of Medicare participants are assumed to claim reimbursement; 
based on historical data (unchanged from last year). 

 Health Care Cost 
Trend Rate (HCCTR) 

Covered medical expenses are assumed to increase by the following 
percentages (unchanged from the last valuation).  For purposes of 
measuring entry age calculations, actual historic plan increases are 
reflected to the extent known.        

HCCTR ASSUMPTIONS - 2017

Year Ending *
Pre-Medicare 

Plans
Medicare 

Plans
Medicare Part B 

Premium
Welfare Fund 
Contributions

2017 ** 7.84% 2.51% 5.0% 0.0%
2018 7.5% 5.0% 5.0% 0.0%
2019 7.0% 5.0% 5.0% 3.5%
2020 6.5% 5.0% 5.0% 3.5%
2021 6.0% 5.0% 5.0% 3.5%
2022 5.5% 5.0% 5.0% 3.5%
2023 and later 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 3.5%

* Fiscal Year for Pre-Medicare and Medicare Plans and Calendar Year for Medicare
Part B Premiums

** Actual amounts based on the 2015 Health Care Savings Agreement Initiative
Report of Status of Healthcare Savings dated June 19, 2017.  Welfare  Fund 
contribution rates assumed to increase based on current pattern bargaining
(additional $25 each for Fiscal Year 2017 and 2018, plus a one-time $100 in Fiscal
Year 2017.
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Health Care Cost 

Trend Rate (HCCTR)       

 

HCCTR ASSUMPTIONS - 2016

Year Ending

Pre-Medicare 

Plans

Medicare      

Plans

Medicare Part B 

Premium

2016* 8.5% 5.0% 5.5%

2017 ** 8.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2018 7.5% 5.0% 5.0%

2019 7.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2020 6.5% 5.0% 5.0%

2021 6.0% 5.0% 5.0%

2022 5.5% 5.0% 5.0%

2023 and later 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

* For the June 30, 2015 OPEB actuarial valuation, rates shown for

2016 were not reflected since actual values for the fiscal year 2016

per capita costs, fiscal year 2016 Welfare Fund contributions and

calendar year 2016 Medicare Part B Premium amounts were used.

** For the June 30, 2015 OPEB actuarial valuation, HIP and Other

HMO Pre-Medicare trend assumed to be 4.88% based on 2014

Health Care Savings Agreement initiatives.  For the June 30, 2014 

OPEB actuarial valuation, HIP and HMO Pre-Medicare trend 

assumed to be 2.89% based on 2014 Health Care Savings 

Agreement initiatives.

Welfare Fund contribution rates assumed to increase based 

on current pattern bargaining until Fiscal Year 2018, and for 

the June 30, 2015 valuation assumed to increase 3.5% each

future year.
 

Participation           Participation assumptions have been updated since the prior valuation to 

reflect recent experience. Actual elections are used for current retirees.  

Some current retirees not eligible for Medicare are assumed to change 

elections upon attaining age 65 based on patterns of elections of Medicare-

eligible retirees.  

 For current retirees who appear to be eligible for health coverage but have 

not made an election (non-filers), the valuation reflects single GHI/EBCBS 

coverage and Part B premium benefits only, to approximate the obligation 

if these individuals were to file for coverage. For future retirees, the portion 

assumed to file for future benefits, and therefore valued similarly, are as 

follows (this assumption was used for the first time in the 2017 valuation): 

NYCERS (NYCHA) 13%

BERS 12%  
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 Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

 Participation 

Participants who do not qualify for coverage because they were working 
less than 20 hours a week at termination are assumed to be reflected in 
waivers and non-filers. 

Detailed assumptions for future Program retirees are presented below: 

Plan Participation Assumptions - 2017
Benefits: NYCERS NYCHA BERS
Pre-Medicare
  GHI/EBCBS 65% 70%
  HIP HMO 26% 16%
  Other HMO 4% 2%
  Waiver 5% 12%

Medicare
  GHI 72% 78%
  HIP HMO 20% 16%
  Other HMO 4% 2%
  Waiver 4% 4%

Post-Medicare Migration
  Other HMO to GHI - -
  HIP HMO to GHI - -
  Pre-Med. Waiver - -
  ** to GHI @ 65 - 67%
  ** to HIP @ 65 - -

Plan Participation Assumptions - 2016
Benefits: NYCERS BERS
Pre-Medicare
  GHI/EBCBS 65% 73%
  HIP HMO 22% 16%
  Other HMO 8% 3%
  Waiver 5% 8%

Medicare
  GHI 72% 78%
  HIP HMO 21% 16%
  Other HMO 4% 2%
  Waiver 3% 4%

Post-Medicare Migration
  Other HMO to GHI 50% 33%
  HIP HMO to GHI 0% 0%
  Pre-Med. Waiver
  ** to GHI @ 65 13% 50%
  ** to HIP @ 65 13% 0%
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Other Postemployment Benefits (continued) 

Demographic Assumptions The actuarial assumptions used in the 2017 and the 2016 OPEB 
valuations are a combination of those used in the NYCERS pension 
actuarial valuations and those specific to the OPEB valuations. 

Cadillac Tax The OPEB actuarial valuation includes an explicit calculation of the 
high cost plan excise tax (“Cadillac Tax”) that will be imposed 
beginning in 2020 under National Health Care Reform. 

Actives/Inactives Liabilities The actuarial assumptions used in the 2017 and the 2016 OPEB 
valuations assumed that 40% of the measured liability of the 
Active/Inactive population, which is roughly equivalent to assuming 
60% of the Active/Inactive members will terminate membership 
prior to vesting and not receive OPEB.  

17. OPERATING REVENUES

Operating revenues include tenant revenue, net and other income and are comprised of the following
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are ($ in thousands):

DESCRIPTION 2017 2016

Tenant revenue, net:
Rental revenue, net 1,031,183$   1,022,549$   
Other 20,445          19,025          

Total tenant revenue, net 1,051,628 1,041,574 

Other income:
Commercial and community center revenue 13,801          13,262          
Insurance and benefits reimbursements 11,010          11,179          
Developer fees 11,013          5,704 
Contract retention reductions 8,077 - 
Sub-let income 3,299 4,168 
Energy rebates 3,384 3,084 
Section 8 income 773 1,224 
Other 5,409 7,123 

Total other income 56,766          45,744          

Total operating revenues 1,108,394$   1,087,318$   
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18. SUBSIDIES AND GRANTS

Subsidies include operating subsidies to fund all the Authority’s programs, as well as to fund interest
on outstanding debt.  Subsidies to fund operations are received periodically and recorded when due.
Grants are awarded by the federal, state or city governments to provide funding for administration and
program operations.  Subsidies and grants for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as
follows ($ in thousands):

DESCRIPTION 2017 2016

Section 8 Housing Assistance Programs 1,100,686$   1,072,420$   
Federal Operating Subsidy 889,603 912,057 
City of New York Subsidies 80,143 85,425 
Federal Capital Funds used for operating purposes 54,018 48,986 
FEMA 28,180 - 
Other 1,544 5,527 
Total subsidies and grants 2,154,174$   2,124,415$   

The Authority participates in a number of programs, funding for which is provided by Federal, State 
and City agencies.  These grant programs are subject to financial and compliance audits by the grantors 
or their representatives. 

19. OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows ($ in thousands):

DESCRIPTION 2017 2016
Restated

Personnel services 1,244,411$ 1,286,223$ 
Program costs 1,984,447   1,956,806   
Depreciation 370,938 357,611 
Total operating expenses 3,599,796$ 3,600,640$ 
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19. OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)

Operating expenses include general and administrative, utilities, and maintenance and operations in the
following amounts for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands):

DESCRIPTION 2017 2016

General and administrative:
Salaries 231,874$   233,800$   
Employee benefits 377,309     384,934     
Claims and insurance expense 106,346     114,324     
Rental and lease expense 40,693       40,305       
Contracts 31,804       28,788       
Professional services 29,751       22,248       
Other 20,623       23,174       

838,400$   847,573$   
Utilities:

Water 182,069$   185,466$   
Heating gas 168,014     158,647     
Electricity 164,740     149,730     
Fuel oil 8,546         9,905         
Cooking gas 8,231         8,643         
Steam 7,116         6,890         
Labor 15,826       15,516       

554,542$   534,797$   
Maintenance and operations:

Labor 464,283$   464,440$   
Contract costs 141,794     166,530     
Materials 65,538       76,959       

671,615$   707,929$   

20. DEVELOPMENT TRANSACTIONS

Section 8 Transaction

On December 23, 2014, the Authority completed a transaction, referred to as “Section 8 Recap”, in
which six project-based Section 8 developments, comprising 875 housing units, were sold to a newly
formed limited liability company, Triborough Preservation LLC (“Triborough”), in which NYCHA
retains a 0.005% membership interest.

The total amount of the transaction was $300 million. Triborough paid $158,882,000 in cash at the
closing and issued a Purchase Money Note (the “Note”) for the remaining portion of $141,118,000.
The Note bears simple interest at 6% per annum. There is no required annual payment of principal and
interest, except to the extent of cash flow, however, the entire principal plus unpaid interest is
immediately due and payable on the maturity date of December 2044. The transaction gain will be
recognized as cash is received.
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20. DEVELOPMENT TRANSACTIONS

Section 8 Transaction (continued)

The cash received at closing is non-refundable.  The transaction agreements contain put options that
can require the Authority to repurchase the property after the expiration of the fifteen year low income
tax credit compliance period.  Due to this continuing involvement, the Authority will recognize the
cash received as revenue over the fifteen year compliance period, in accordance with GASB Statement
No. 62.  During both 2017 and 2016 the Authority recognized $16,946,000 as revenue from this
transaction.  The resulting unearned revenue is as follows ($ in thousands):

Description of Liability 2017 2016
Current portion 16,946$   16,946$   
Long-term portion 186,036   202,983   
Unearned revenue from Section 8 Recap 202,982$ 219,929$ 

On March 3, 2017, cash of $109,147,000 was received by NYCHA, consisting of the following: 

• $95,311,000 – Note Principal

• $12,701,000 – Note Interest

• $ 1,135,000– Developer Fee

In accordance with GASB Codification Section 2250.110, the Note Principal and Interest as well as 
the Developer Fee were not previously recognized since these items were contingent on events that 
may not have materialized.  However, these estimates were adjusted in 2016.  The $95,310,669 Seller 
Note Principal payment will be recognized as gain on sale over the fifteen year tax credit compliance 
period beginning December 23, 2014.   

The $12,701,000 of interest income and the $1,135,000 Developer Fee were fully recognized as 
income in 2016. 

NYCHA has been granted a Right of First Refusal which states that at the end of the fifteen year  
Compliance Period and for the twelve months thereafter, Triborough will not sell or otherwise dispose 
of the property without first offering it to NYCHA for a period of thirty days.  

This Section 8 Recap transaction is intended to result in the rehabilitation of these developments by 
the new owner. A separate developer for this rehabilitation is a newly formed limited liability 
company, of which the Authority has a 50% interest.  The rehabilitation work on the developments is 
anticipated to generate $46,611,000 in developer fees, of which the Authority’s share is $23,306,000. 
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20. DEVELOPMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Rental Assistance Demonstration Program

On December 29, 2016, the Authority completed a transaction in which Ocean Bay – Bayside,
comprising 1,395 units and a community center (Parcel A) was leased to a newly formed limited
liability company, Ocean Bay RAD, LLC, in which NYCHA retains a 0.005% membership interest.
Concurrently, in a related transaction, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with a newly
formed corporation, Bayside Land Lease Corporation, in which NYCHA retains a 50% ownership
interest for the purpose of making improvements to the land (Parcel B) funded by FEMA proceeds.

The Authority also holds certain rights to repurchase the leasehold interest held by the owner as set
forth in the Right of First Refusal and Purchase Option Agreement. Under the Authority’s right of first
refusal, the owner cannot sell or transfer Parcel A to a third-party without first offering it to the
Authority for one hundred twenty days at a price equal to the outstanding debt plus taxes attributable
to the sale. If the Authority notifies the owner that it is exercising its right of first refusal, the sale must
take place within one hundred twenty days after the Authority provides notice. The Authority’s right
of first refusal terminates five years following the close of the tax credit compliance period. In
accordance with the Parcel B lease, the Parcel B lease will terminate upon the Authority’s exercise of
its Right of First Refusal and Purchase Option Agreement. The transaction agreements contain put
options that can require the Authority to repurchase the property after the expiration of the fifteen year
low income tax credit compliance period.  Due to this continuing involvement, the Authority will
recognize the cash received as revenue over the fifteen year compliance period, in accordance with
GASB Statement No. 62.

The resulting unearned revenue as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is as follows ($ in thousands):

Description of Liability 2017 2016
Current portion 2,836$   2,836$   
Long-term portion 36,853      39,689      
Unearned Revenue from RAD 39,689$  42,525$  

21. SUPERSTORM SANDY

On October 29, 2012, Sandy made landfall, causing significant damage in New York City as well as
other states and cities along the U.S. eastern seaboard. Certain Authority developments sustained
substantial damage to buildings and equipment, including their infrastructure and mechanical and
electrical systems.  Expenses, comprised of emergency costs, permanent costs based on in-kind cost
of repairs and rent abatement, were $332,500,000. The Authority anticipates expenditures for building
restoration, electrical, mechanical, and plumbing systems, and grounds restoration to protect physical
assets from future storm damage and to better serve its residents. These expenditures are estimated at
$2,887,000,000 and will be capitalized as work is completed.  As of December 31, 2017, $427,313,000
has been expended relating to this work.
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21. SUPERSTORM SANDY (continued)

Costs incurred and continuing to be incurred, but not reflected as Sandy costs include excess fuel costs
and other costs relating to temporary boilers and generators. These costs incurred through December
31, 2017, are included in ordinary operating expenses.  The majority of these costs remain eligible for
insurance and FEMA recovery purposes.

Substantially all costs related to Sandy are expected to be reimbursed by insurance recoveries, FEMA
and other sources.  NYCHA has insurance coverage of up to $509,750,000 from its commercial and
flood insurance carriers.  To date, the Authority has received $326,503,000 from its insurance carriers,
of which $809,000 and $6,701,000 was reported in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Insurance recoveries
are reported as non-operating revenue.

22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mixed-Finance Transactions

On March 16, 2010, the Authority closed two mixed-finance transactions in which 21 NYCHA
developments, comprising 20,139 housing units, were sold to two newly-created, limited liability
companies.  Thirteen developments, containing 14,465 dwelling units, were sold to NYCHA Public
Housing Preservation I, LLC, in which NYCHA I Housing Development Fund Corporation, a
component unit of NYCHA, is the sole managing member and has a 0.01% membership interest in
LLC I.  LLC I is a Low Income Housing Tax Credit LLC.  Eight developments, containing 5,674
dwelling units, were sold to NYCHA Public Housing Preservation II, in which NYCHA II Housing
Development Fund Corporation, a component unit of NYCHA, is the sole managing member and has
a 49.9% membership interest in LLC II.

The LLCs were created in connection with the mixed-finance transactions and are considered blended
component units for financial reporting purposes.  The Authority served as developer and continues
to be the property manager for both LLCs.

The total acquisition price for the developments sold to LLC I was $590,250,000.  At closing, LLC I
paid $53,733,000 in cash using a combination of mortgage proceeds of $32,809,000 and equity
contributions of $20,924,000 from the equity investor limited partner. NYCHA issued a Seller Note
to LLC I for the remaining portion of $536,517,000, with interest on the Note accruing at 2.69%. As
of December 31, 2017 there is an outstanding balance of $57,697,000, including interest of
$33,451,000 on the Seller Note, which has been reported as a Note receivable in the Condensed
Combining Information (see Note 25).

The total acquisition price for the developments sold to LLC II was $3,000,000, which was paid
entirely at the closing using the proceeds from a $3,000,000 mortgage.
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mixed-Finance Transactions (continued)

The two mixed-finance transactions were structured and closed in a manner which allowed the
Authority to utilize financing opportunities available under the provisions of the American Recovery
and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”) in order to qualify for certain federal funding.  At the time of
the closing, NYCHA qualified to receive an annual allocation of HUD federal operating and capital
funding for a portion of the dwelling units. Additional HUD federal operating subsidies for 2017 and
2016 were $61,083,000 and $61,720,000, respectively.

Financing Summary - As a result of the transactions, the LLCs have received more than $400 million
in permanent public and private funding from ARRA funds (the “ARRA loans”), State of New York
modernization funds, and the sale of long-term bonds and tax credits.  The majority of this funding
has been invested in capital improvements at the 21 developments and for funding operating reserves.
The LLC I transaction also included approximately $360 million of short-term bridge financing to
fund the acquisition price and rehabilitation costs, all of which was prepaid in July 2013.

LLC I was structured to provide its 99.99% investor member the benefit of the low-income housing
tax credits.  The investor members provided $228 million in equity payments through December 31,
2017, in return for tax credit benefits.

NYCHA holds a substantial amount of indebtedness from the LLCs upon completion of the
rehabilitation of the developments. Funds received from the ARRA loans were provided to the LLCs
as permanent loans from NYCHA. At December 31, 2017, outstanding ARRA loans payable to
NYCHA from LLC I and LLC II, respectively, are $75,780,000 and $32,077,000.

In addition to the ARRA loans, the Authority provided additional loans (“Loan A”) and (“Loan C”)
to the LLC’s, to enable them to carry out rehabilitation work at the developments and to provide a
source of funding to redeem the Bridge Bonds at maturity. As of December 31, 2017, outstanding
Loan A payable to NYCHA from LLC I was $476,956,000 and from LLC II was $2,681,000.  Loan
A interest from LLC I, charged at a rate of 2.69% per annum, was $74,108,000.  Outstanding Loan C
payable to NYCHA as of December 31, 2017 was $42,000,000.

In September 2013, NYCHA converted the remaining construction-period financing for both LLC I
and LLC II from construction loans to permanent loans due to HDC. The permanent loans for LLC I
and LLC II are $22,298,000 and $26,159,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2017 (see Note 14).

Responsibilities and Obligations – NYCHA has certain responsibilities and obligations under
separate agreements with the LLCs including (i) continuing to manage the operations of the
developments; (ii) served as developer for the rehabilitation work at the developments; (iii) providing
operating and capital subsidies to the LLCs; and (iv) providing operating deficit and completion
guarantees.  The operating deficit guarantee will terminate if specified operating income conditions
are met.

As of December 31, 2017, the balance due to NYCHA from LLC I and LLC2 was $9,023,000 and
$14,049,000 for reimbursable costs in managing the operation of the developments.  In 2017, NYCHA
provided operating subsidies and capital contributions of $8,628,000 to LLC I and $32,126,000 to
LLC II under the mixed -finance transaction agreements.
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mixed-Finance Transactions (continued)

NYCHA has retained the right to reacquire the developments of LLC I in the future.  The right of first
refusal terminates fifteen (15) years after the first day following the expiration of the final year of the
tax credit period with respect to each development.

For LLC II, NYCHA was granted a call option (the “Call Option”) with respect to the membership
interest of the other participating member on the following terms: (i) the Call Option is exercisable by
notice from the managing member to the other participating member; (ii) the closing date shall be the
date selected by the managing member, provided that  such date must be on or after the date which is
the five (5) year anniversary of the admission of the other participating member to the Company; (iii)
the purchase price under the Call Option shall equal fifty percent (50%) of the distributions made to
the other participating member during the calendar year preceding the closing under the Call Option;
and (iv) such purchase price shall be paid in immediately available funds.  The Authority has not
exercised the Call Option as of December 31, 2017.

The City of New York

As described in Note 1A, the Authority is a component unit of The City of New York.  During 2017
and 2016, The City provided operating subsidies and grants to the Authority of $80,143,000 and
$85,425,000, respectively. In addition, during 2017 and 2016, The City provided $89,501,000 and
$118,536,000, respectively, in capital contributions to NYCHA to fund modernization costs.

The City also provides certain services to the Authority.  The total cost for these services, most of
which is for the cost of water, was $183,518,000 and $186.841,000, respectively, for 2017 and 2016.
At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Authority had amounts due to The City for services of
$1,053,000 and $1,127,000, respectively. Pursuant to a Cooperation Agreement dated July 1, 2015,
The City has waived acceptance of payments in lieu of taxes from the Authority beginning January 1,
2015 through June 30, 2025.

23. NET POSITION

The Authority’s Net Position represents the excess of assets over liabilities and consists of the
following:

a. Net investment in capital assets: net capital assets less the outstanding bonds payable used
to finance these assets

b. Unrestricted Deficit:  net position with no statutory restrictions

Below is net position by type as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 ($ in thousands): 

2017 2016
DESCRIPTION Restated
Net investment in capital assets 5,995,349$   5,692,787$   
Unrestricted Deficit (3,062,238)       (3,117,424)       
Net position 2,933,111$   2,575,363$   
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24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments - The Authority rents office space under operating leases, which expire at various
dates.  Future minimum lease commitments under these leases as of December 31, 2017 are ($ in
thousands):

Year Amount

2018 28,308$   
2019 29,210 
2020 34,933 
2021 35,746 
2022 36,195 

2023-2027 143,800     
2028-2030 72,376 

Total lease commitments 380,568$   

Rental expense, which includes certain related operating costs, was $40,693,000 and $40,305,000 for 
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  

Pending Litigation - The Authority is a defendant in a number of lawsuits arising from claims for 
personal injury, property damage, breach of contract, civil rights and personnel matters.  Management 
believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse impact on the 
financial position of the Authority. 

Obligations under Purchase Commitments – The Authority is involved in modernization and other 
contracted programs.  At December 31, 2017, outstanding obligations under purchase commitments 
were approximately $1,616,680,000, compared to $966,806,000 at December 31, 2016. 
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25. CONDENSED COMBINING INFORMATION

The following are Condensed Statements of Net Position as of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position for the Years Ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, for the Authority and its component units, the LLCs.

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2017
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total
ASSETS
Current assets 1,536,143$     111,847$    15,130$    (23,072)$    1,640,048$     
Capital assets, net 6,146,062       366,326          109,918          (40,561) 6,581,745       
Restricted assets 553,023          696 835 - 554,554 
Notes receivable 761,299          - - (761,299)           - 
Other assets 382,690          - - - 382,690 
TOTAL ASSETS 9,379,217       478,869          125,883          (824,932)           9,159,037       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 172,927          - - - 172,927          

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 1,041,867       15,632 16,927 (23,072) 1,051,354       
Long-term debt 716,002          21,940 25,578 - 763,520 
Notes payable - 726,541 34,758 (761,299)           - 
Pension liability 1,032,725       - - - 1,032,725       
OPEB liability 2,562,879       - - - 2,562,879       
Other liabilities 729,195          - - - 729,195          
TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,082,668       764,113          77,263 (784,371)           6,139,673       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 259,180          - - - 259,180          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 5,795,545       (219,810)         56,631 362,983 5,995,349       
Unrestricted deficit (2,585,249)      (65,434)           (8,011) (403,544)           (3,062,238)      

TOTAL NET POSITION 3,210,296$    (285,244)$    48,620$    (40,561)$    2,933,111$     

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total

Operating Revenues 989,664$   85,725$   33,005$   -$  1,108,394$     
Operating Expenses 3,433,935       185,004 75,032 (94,175) 3,599,796       

Operating Loss (2,444,271)      (99,279) (42,027) 94,175 (2,491,402)      
Non-Operating Revenues, net 2,123,596       83,097 36,157 (80,319) 2,162,531       

Gain (Loss) Before Capital Contributions (320,675)         (16,182) (5,870) 13,856 (328,871)         
Capital Contributions 676,831 7,758 13,760 (11,730) 686,619 

Change in Net Position 356,156 (8,424) 7,890 2,126 357,748 
Net Position - Beginning 2,854,140       (276,820)         40,730 (42,687) 2,575,363       

Net Position - Ending 3,210,296$     (285,244)$   48,620$   (40,561)$   2,933,111$     
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25. CONDENSED COMBINING INFORMATION (continued)

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total

Net cash provided (used) by
  Operating activities (2,164,082)$    (77,165)$    (28,546)$    94,175$    (2,175,618)$    
  Non-capital financing activities 2,000,647       97,490 37,447 (80,319) 2,055,265       
  Capital and related financing activities 160,939          (8,712) (4,979) (13,856) 133,392          
  Investing activities 113,908          415 56 - 114,379 

Net increase (decrease) 111,412          12,028 3,978 - 127,418 
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 871,350          89,959 6,970 - 968,279 

Ending cash and cash equivalents 982,762$    101,987$    10,948$    -$   1,095,697$     

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2016 Restated
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total
ASSETS
Current assets 1,404,535$     99,135$    10,660$    (14,883)$    1,499,447$     
Capital assets, net 5,854,717       374,866          99,678 (42,687) 6,286,574       
Restricted assets 521,652          698 839 - 523,189 
Notes receivable 747,903          - - (747,903)           - 
Other assets 384,151          - - - 384,151 
TOTAL ASSETS 8,912,958       474,699          111,177          (805,473)           8,693,361       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 247,616          - - - 247,616          

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 912,851          16,076 9,530 (14,883) 923,574          
Long-term debt 651,740          22,298 26,159 - 700,197 
Notes payable - 713,145 34,758 (747,903)           - 
Pension liability 1,214,112       - - - 1,214,112       
OPEB liability 2,484,343       - - - 2,484,343       
Other liabilities 759,513          - - - 759,513          
TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,022,559       751,519          70,447 (762,786)           6,081,739       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 283,875          - - - 283,875          

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 5,495,076       (211,605)         46,333 362,983 5,692,787       
Unrestricted deficit (2,640,936)      (65,215) (5,603) (405,670)           (3,117,424)      

TOTAL NET POSITION 2,854,140$    (276,820)$    40,730$    (42,687)$    2,575,363$     
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25. CONDENSED COMBINING INFORMATION (continued)

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016 Restated
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total

Operating Revenues 969,823$   85,058$   32,437$   -$  1,087,318$     
Operating Expenses 3,433,326       190,251 75,377 (98,314) 3,600,640       

Operating Loss (2,463,503)      (105,193)         (42,940) 98,314 (2,513,322)      
Non-Operating Revenues, net 2,116,127       83,649 36,540 (83,724) 2,152,592       

Gain (Loss) Before Capital Contributions (347,376)         (21,544) (6,400) 14,590 (360,730)         
Capital Contributions 622,144 18,282 12,925 (12,464) 640,887 

Change in Net Position 274,768 (3,262) 6,525 2,126 280,157 
Net Position - Beginning 2,579,372       (273,558)         34,205 (44,813) 2,295,206       

Net Position - Ending 2,854,140$   (276,820)$   40,730$   (42,687)$   2,575,363$     

New York City Housing Authority
Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
($ in Thousands)

NYCHA  LLC I  LLC II Eliminations Total

Net cash provided (used) by
 Operating activities (1,998,401)$    (72,543)$   (34,622)$   98,314$   (2,007,252)$    
 Non-capital financing activities 2,106,275       98,156 37,896 (83,724) 2,158,603       
 Capital and related financing activities (61,564)           (17,127)           (3,519) (14,590) (96,800)           
 Investing activities 125,131          263 32 - 125,426 

Net increase (decrease) 171,441          8,749 (213) - 179,977          
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 699,909          81,210 7,183 - 788,302 

Ending cash and cash equivalents 871,350$   89,959$   6,970$   -$  968,279$   



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

(UNAUDITED) 

   Castle Hill Houses, Borough of The Bronx 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Schedule of Changes in the Authority’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

2017 2016
Total OPEB Liability

 Service Cost 99,842$  129,183$  
 Interest 86,759 84,197 
 Differences between Expected and Actual Experience (68,103) - 
 Change in Assumptions 42,001 (186,804) 
 Contributions - Employer (68,963) (74,740) 
 Implicit Rate Subsidy (13,000) (13,000) 
 Net Changes in total OPEB Liability  78,536 (61,164) 

Total OPEB Liability - beginning 2,484,343 2,545,507 
Total OPEB Liability at the End of theYear 2,562,879$   2,484,343$   

Covered Employee Payroll 751,506$  762,086$  

Total OPEB Liability as a percentage of covered payroll 341.0% 326.0%

Discount Rate used to measure Total OPEB Liability 3.16% 3.71%

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.  The additional years’ information will be 
displayed as it becomes available. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S CONTRIBUTIONS
TO THE NEW YORK CITY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (NYCERS)

($ in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually Required Contribution $165,240 $174,207 $159,206 $155,894
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution $165,240 $174,207 $159,206 $155,894

Contribution Deficiency - - - -

Authority covered-employee payroll $751,506 $762,086 $789,540 $757,566

Contributions as percentage of covered-employee payroll 21.99% 22.86% 20.17% 20.58%

This Schedule is intended to show information for ten years.  The additional years’ 
information will be displayed as it become available. 
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     REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF THE AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE
OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY OF NYCERS

($ in thousands)

For the Years Ended June 30,
2017 2016 2015 2014

NYCHA's proportion of the net 
pension liability 4.97% 5.00% 5.07% 5.02%

NYCHA's proportionate share of the net
pension liability $1,032,725 $1,214,112 $1,026,612 $904,747

NYCHA's covered-employee payroll  (Note A) $624,372 $616,479 $624,615 $611,709
NYCHA's proportionate share of the net

pension liability as a percentage
of it's covered-employee payroll 165.40% 196.94% 164.36% 147.90%

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability 74.80% 69.57% 73.13% 71.41%

Note A:   NYCHA's covered-employee payroll represents the total covered-employee
payroll of NYCERS multiplied by NYCHA's share of the Net Pension Liability.

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.  The additional years’ 
information will be displayed as it becomes available. 





STATISTICAL SECTION 

(UNAUDITED) 

Coney Island Houses, Borough of Brooklyn 





 Vladeck Houses, Borough of Manhattan
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New York City Housing Authority 

STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED) 
This part of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents detailed information as a 
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about the Authority's overall financial health. The 
following are the categories of the schedules that are included in this Section: 

Financial Trends 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the 
Authority's financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

Revenue Capacity 
This schedule contains information to help the reader assess the Authority's most 
significant revenue source. 

Debt Capacity 
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the affordability of 
the Authority's current levels of outstanding debt and the Authority's ability to 
issue additional debt in the future. 

Demographic and Economic Information 
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader 
understand the environment within which the Authority's financial activities take 
place. 

Operating Information 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the Authority's financial report relates to the 
services the Authority provides and the activities it performs. 





STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED)

SCHEDULES OF 
FINANCIAL TRENDS 
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Congressional NYCHA
 Year Appropriation Funding
2008 $    4,200 814$     
2009 $    4,455 872$     
2010 $    4,775 940$     
2011 $    4,617 940$     
2012 $    3,962 903$     
2013 $     4,054 896$     
2014 $     4,400 830$     
2015 $     4,440 938$     
2016 $     4,500 912$     
2017 $     4,607 890$     

Source: New York City Housing Authority, Finance Department

NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY
HISTORICAL FEDERAL OPERATING SUBSIDY 

($ in millions)
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    Capital Fund     Congressional NYCHA
Grant Year Appropriation Funding

2008 2,439$  334$     
2009 5,435$  755$     
2010 2,500$  327$     
2011 2,500$  273$     
2012 2,405$  270$     
2013 2,070$  259$     
2014 1,875$  296$     
2015 1,925$  306$     
2016 1,900$  319$     
2017 1,942$  346$     

Source: New York City Housing Authority, Finance Department

NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY
HISTORICAL FEDERAL CAPITAL FUND AWARDS

($ in millions)
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STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED)

SCHEDULES OF DEMOGRAPHIC
AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION





ALL PROGRAMS DECEMBER 31, 2017

TOTAL

NUMBER OF FAMILIES 173,946 

POPULATION 392,259 

AVERAGE FAMILY SIZE 2.3 

AVERAGE TENURE IN PUBLIC HOUSING 22.6 YEARS

AVERAGE FAMILY ANNUAL INCOME 24,424$     

AVERAGE MONTHLY RENT 522$     

Percentage of Population

NUMBER OF SENIOR RESIDENTS (AGE 62 OR MORE): 80,150 20.4%

NUMBER OF SINGLE SENIOR RESIDENTS (AGE 62 OR MORE): 39,245 10.0%

NUMBER OF MINORS UNDER 18: 105,612 26.9%

Percentage of Households

NUMBER OF WORKING FAMILIES: 81,547 46.9%

NUMBER OF FAMILIES RECEIVING PUBLIC ASSISTANCE: 23,077 13.3%

NUMBER OF SINGLE PARENT FAMILIES WITH MINORS UNDER 18: 38,637 22.2%

NUMBER OF SENIOR (AGE 62 OR MORE) HEAD OF HOUSEHOLDS: 67,369 38.7%

HOUSEHOLDS BELOW POVERTY LEVEL 86,308 49.6%

NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY

RESIDENT DEMOGRAPHICS - OPERATING PROGRAMS
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Percentage Percentage

Change from Change from

Prior City of Prior

Year United States Period New York Period

2007 ………………………. 301,231,207    0.96% 8,013,775 0.25
2008 ………………………. 304,093,966 0.95 8,068,195 0.68
2009 ………………………. 306,771,529 0.88 8,131,574 0.79
2010 ………………………. 309,348,193 0.84 8,192,026 0.74
2011 ………………………. 311,663,358 0.75 8,284,098 1.12
2012 ………………………. 313,998,379 0.75 8,361,179 0.93
2013 ………………………. 316,204,908 0.70 8,422,460 0.73
2014 ………………………. 318,563,456 0.75 8,471,990 0.59
2015 ………………………. 320,896,618 0.73 8,516,502 0.53
2016 ………………………. 323,127,513 0.70 8,537,673 0.25

2016 2010 2000 1990 1980 1970

Bronx ………………… 1,455,720 1,388,240 1,333,854 1,203,789 1,168,972 1,471,701
Brooklyn …………….. 2,629,150 2,510,240 2,465,812 2,300,664 2,230,936 2,602,012
Manhattan …………… 1,643,734 1,588,530 1,540,373 1,487,536 1,428,285 1,539,233
Queens ………………. 2,333,054 2,235,310 2,229,895 1,951,598 1,891,325 1,987,174
Staten Island ………… 476,015 469,706 445,414 378,977 352,121 295,443
Total ………………….. 8,537,673 8,192,026 8,015,348 7,322,564 7,071,639 7,895,563

Percentage Increase
   (Decrease) from
   Prior Decade ……. 4.2% 2.2% 9.5% 3.5% (10.4%) 1.5%

Year City of City of 

United States New York United States New York

2007 ………………………. 11,995,419,000 409,492,080 3 % 39,821 51,097 128 %
2008 ………………………. 12,492,705,000 412,898,932 3 41,082 51,177 125
2009 ………………………. 12,079,444,000 398,791,095 3 39,376 49,040 125
2010 ………………………. 12,459,613,000 412,633,711 3 40,277 50,370 125
2011 ………………………. 13,233,436,000 446,838,428 3 42,461 53,940 127
2012 ………………………. 13,904,485,000 476,181,797 3 44,282 56,953 129
2013 ………………………. 14,068,960,000 492,554,049 4 44,493 58,484 131
2014 ………………………. 14,801,624,000 519,790,330 4 46,464 61,354 132
2015 ………………………. 15,463,981,000 540,352,366 3 48,190 63,444 132
2016 ………………………. 16,017,781,445 NA NA 49,571 NA NA

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis

* Amounts as of March 28, 2017
N/A = data not available

United States

2007 - 2016*

Personal Income

(in thousands)

New York 

City as a

Percentage of

United States

Per Capita Personal Income

(in thousands)

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Ten Year Trend

New York 

City as a

Percentage of

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Ten Year Trend

POPULATION OF NEW YORK CITY BY BOROUGH

POPULATION - TEN YEAR TREND

2007 - 2016*

151





Change

from

Prior

Year NYCHA Period

2008 ………………………. 402,722 (0.76) %
2009 ………………………. 403,665 0.23 %
2010 ………………………. 403,995 0.08 %
2011 ………………………. 403,357 (0.16) %
2012 ………………………. 403,736 0.09 %
2013 ………………………. 403,120 (0.15) %
2014 ………………………. 401,093 (0.50) %
2015……………………….. 400,474 (0.20) %
2016……………………….. 396,581 (0.97) %
2017……………………….. 392,259 (1.09) %

Year

2008 ………………………. 3,953,354
2009 ………………………. 4,068,739
2010 ………………………. 4,070,320
2011 ………………………. 4,024,487
2012 ………………………. 4,052,026
2013 ………………………. 4,064,839
2014 ………………………. 4,068,376
2015 ………………………. 4,133,013
2016 ………………………. 4,241,327
2017 ………………………. 4,248,457

Source: New York City Housing Authority, Resident Demographics - Operating Programs

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Ten Year Trend

New York City Housing Authority 

Demographic and Economic Statistics - Ten Year Trend

NYCHA

New York City Housing Authority 

2008 - 2017

2008 - 2017

POPULATION - TEN YEAR TREND

Personal Income

(in thousands)
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Public

Year Assistance SSI (a)

2008 ……………………………………. 341 409,821
2009 ……………………………………. 346 414,923
2010 ……………………………………. 346 420,878
2011 ……………………………………. 356 423,707
2012 ……………………………………. 353 425,991
2013 ……………………………………. 357 425,034
2014 ……………………………………. 337 402,529
2015 ……………………………………. 360 398,856
2016 ……………………………………. 370 394,680
2017 ……………………………………. 364 NA

(a)  The SSI data is for December of each year.
  N/A: Not Available

Sources:  The City of New York, Human Resources Administration and
the U.S. Social Security Administration.

Public

Year Assistance

2007 ……………………………………. 24,305    
2008 ……………………………………. 22,216    
2009 ……………………………………. 20,829    
2010 ……………………………………. 20,094    
2011 ……………………………………. 20,028    
2012 ……………………………………. 19,561    
2013 ……………………………………. 20,055    
2014 ……………………………………. 20,379    
2015 ……………………………………. 21,214    
2016 ……………………………………. 22,710    
2017 ……………………………………. 23,077    

Source: New York City Housing Authority, Research and Management Analysis Department

City of New York - Persons Receiving Public Assistance - Ten Year Trend

2008- 2017

(annual averages in thousands)

2008- 2017

Persons Receiving Public Assistance - Ten Year Trend

New York City Housing Authority 
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New York City New York City New York United
Employed Unemployed(a) City States

2007 ………………………. 3,664 194 5.0 % 4.6 %
2008 ………………………. 3,706 221 5.6 5.8
2009 ………………………. 3,592 369 9.3 9.3
2010 ………………………. 3,574 377 9.5 9.6
2011 ………………………. 3,603 360 9.1 8.9
2012 ………………………. 3,647 377 9.3 8.1
2013 ………………………. 3,706 360 8.8 7.4
2014 ………………………. 3,805 299 7.2 6.2
2015 ………………………. 3,884 235 5.7 5.3
2016 ………………………. 3,924 214 5.2 4.9

(a) Unemployed persons are all civilians who had no employment during the survey week, were available for work, 
except for temporarily illness, and had made efforts to find employment some time during the prior four weeks. 
This includes persons who were waiting to be recalled to a job from which they were laid off of were waiting to 
report to a new job within 30 days.

Note: Employment and unemployment information is not seasonally adjusted.
Sources: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, and Office of the Comptroller, Fiscal and Budget Studies.

Employment Status of the Resident Population - Ten Year Trend

Civilian Labor Force

2007-2016

(in thousands) Unemployment Rate

159





STATISTICAL SECTION (UNAUDITED)

SCHEDULES OF 
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SUMMARY OF PUBLIC HOUSING DEVELOPMENTS

DEVELOPMENT

DATA

FEDERAL LLC I LLC II TOTAL

 NUMBER OF
DEVELOPMENTS 304 13 8 325 

NUMBER OF
CURRENT APARTMENTS 155,508 14,460 5,668 175,636 

NUMBER OF
SECTION 8 TRANSITION
APARTMENTS - 2,654 1,533 4,187 

TOTAL NUMBER OF 
APARTMENTS 156,050 14,476 5,694 176,220 

RESIDENTIAL
BUILDING 2,198 155 64 2,417 

NON-RESIDENTIAL
BUILDING 101 8 4 113 

POPULATION* 
PUBLIC HOUSING 346,633 26,320 8,605 381,558 

POPULATION* 
SECTION 8 TRANSITION - 7,024 3,677 10,701 

TOTAL POPULATION* 346,633 33,344 12,282 392,259 

* Population as of January 1, 2018

Source: Development Data Book - 2018
New York City Housing Authority, Performance Tracking and Analytics Department 

DEVELOPMENTS

IN FULL OPERATION

PROGRAM
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NEW YORK CITY HOUSING AUTHORITY
        EMPLOYEE HEAD COUNTS 2008 - 2017

Year Full Time Part Time Total

2008 11,723 192 11,915
2009 11,323 191 11,514
2010 11,222 201 11,423
2011 11,115 197 11,312
2012 11,591 217 11,808
2013 11,107 162 11,269
2014 11,401 158 11,559
2015 11,079 160 11,239
2016 10,624 403 11,027
2017 10,976 444 11,420

Note: Includes only employees who are active and receiving bi-weekly pay.

Source:  New York City Housing Authority
Department of Human Resources
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